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Unless otherwise defined in this Annual Report, terms defined in the prospectus dated 30 March
2009 (the "Prospectus”) issued by Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) have
the same meanings when used in this Annual Report.

BARERAZAREEIN  NEHMAARERESEZEARAR ([F28) R2FTAF=A
“tEHENREER ((BRER]) IATEAGHRRE

This document is prepared in both English and Chinese. In the event of inconsistency, the English
text of this document shall prevail over the Chinese text.
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Year Ended 31 March BZE=A=+—HILEE

2006 2007 2008 2009

HK$'000 F/&77r  HK$'000 F&mr HK$'000 T HK$'000 F&T

Revenue Yz 575,254 983,944 1,485,054 1,252,210

Gross profit 4| 102,281 237,380 559,165 627,102

Profit before tax % B F 39,477 142,262 480,439 502,425
Profit attributable to equity holders of

the Group AEERZFHE ARIGTIE 31,996 111,334 399,724 415,122

Basic earnings per share BIREARZEF|

3.56 cents 1l

12.37 cents 1ll

44.41 cents fli

46.12 cents Al

Non-current assets JERENE &

Current assets i E& &

Current liabilities jRE & &

Non-current liabilities 3EREN & &

Net assets &&= /FE

Note:

32,672

229,156

191,552

12,232

58,044

33,658

291,009

212,954

10,970

100,743

19,740

780,552

292,615

507,677

20,166

393,162

157,109

256,219

The results of the Group for the financial years ended 31 March 2006, 2007, 2008 and the balance sheets items of the Group as at 31 March 2006,

2007, 2008 are extracted from the Company’s Prospectus dated 30 March 2009.

Bi&E

ARBRE-TEAT  CPELFR-FEN\FSAS T BLMBEROEEURARER “BEAF

EREREERSE _ZTNF=A=+TRHENETARBRER -

S REEEERERAT -FF

NEFEFR

CETLER-TT\E=A=t—B®E



AAMRARABRRIEBEREEEZRAERLD
AREMBAR ([HRE] [AEE] KR
i) R —FFTHFMAKY EHRAAM
BHE_TTNF=A=+—HIE+ZEARZ
FERSE °

ES

RZZEZNFRFEE  AEBRELFA
M5 1BEEBT  REAFRAIEM.6% 7K
EBZO D HEBIEREENREF R
HENN16.2% - FRAEF|F0.4618TT - WEF
[RI B hN3.8% o

BORBREFRE

—ETN\FEHAZEEMERTIFAN—
Foa2RREBEREENZ AR HEBZEAND
%o AR BAREMS - BREABRIFK
BRORENNEBNZ BRI ARHNEL
Em TENEHEEE  SUNREEER
TZEMNELERE  AERER_TTNH
BFEEZEERARTARY - LA ERIESL

s e

REBEFEAR  ARBERGERRNINTIZE
RACHER - WIHERBREL  ARTA
AEBEZAREREEREZ YA - AEHE
BRKETEMES | FERBIITmHELED—
BRECNHTEAE  AETERZRET
XEETNSoERBERF L2RER
BRI RSEHRZESERBETS - K
SEZ TELHER NP AR E RS
FEAKEXBEARBEZF (BREF) &
BER -

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
+ 7 &

| am pleased to present the annual report of Silver Base Group
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“Silver Base”, “the Group” or
“we") for the 12 months ended 31 March 2009 to the shareholders

after our successful listing in April 2009.

RESULTS

For the financial year 2009, the Group’s net profit after tax was
HK$415.1 million, an increase of 6.6% from the same period
last year. The Group's net profit after tax derived from our core
distribution business increased 16.2% as compared to the same
period last year. Earnings per share were HK$0.461, an increase

of 3.8% from the same period last year.

CORE BUSINESS REMAINS SOLID

2008 was an extraordinary year for many corporations, which
experienced unprecedented turbulence in the global economic
crisis. For the Group, however, in a business well-shielded from
recession and benefited from boasting high-quality products, well-
established distribution network, excellent channel management
and effective business strategies, the Group recorded a strong
performance with net profit hitting record high for the financial
year 2009.

During the year under review, the Group actively expanded its
distribution network in the PRC and the international markets not
only to develop business, but also to establish a strong platform
for future growth of the Group. The Group operates a “two-way
trade” platform exporting one of the best Chinese liquors — the
Wuliangye Liquor Series, whose brand value has ranked number
one in the Chinese food and beverage industry for 14 consecutive
years, while introducing world-renowned liquor products into the
PRC market. Our well-established distribution network and proven
marketing strategies have fueled our growth over the past few

years including last year.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009
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OPENING A NEW CHAPTER IN 2009

2009 is a milestone in the Group's 12 years of history. Through
our hard work in the past decade, the Group's business continues
to grow, resulting in outstanding operational and financial
performance. We take great delight in our listing on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 8
April 2009 (the “Listing”). The Listing received strong support from
investors and has given the Group a platform to access capital for

funding business growth in its next chapter of development.

The Group has secured a considerable amount of proceeds
from the Listing, but we will continue to exercise prudence in
cash management. The Group will use the Listing proceeds in
accordance with the plan disclosed in the Prospectus dated 30
March 2009 and use available banking facilities wisely to maximize
shareholder return.

PROSPECTS

Growth through strategic alliances and product
differentiation

Looking ahead, we will continue to leverage our long-standing
relationship with the Wuliangye Group and the best baijiu products
- the Wuliangye Liquor Series — to expand and reinforce our
distribution network in the PRC. We have been approached by
various overseas and PRC business counterparts with a view
to building up business relationship with us. As such, we are

exploring any potential cooperation opportunities with them.

Our continuous efforts to expand our product range have proved
to be successful in February 2009 as the Group obtained the
principal distributorship of the “Soy” Label Series, a new product
series of the Wuliangye Group, for the PRC duty-paid market. The
new product series is expected to create growth impetus for the
Group in the foreseeable future. The Group will seek to enhance
the application of product differentiation strategy on areas such
as product packaging and volume to meet the needs of different

customers.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
+ 7 &

We will continue to take a proactive approach in diversifying the
products we distribute and are now conducting research and
assessing the feasibility of distributing various wine products,
which we believe will have respectable growth potential in demand
in the PRC market. The Group is now studying the plan of
setting up a “Liquors Sales Centre” which will be designed by
a professional design firm to act as a Silver Base image flagship
store in the prime commercial area of Beijing. On top of our
current products, there would be a wide selection of foreign wines,
e.g. red and white wines, from different countries at different
price ranges and classes, thereby providing a one-stop shopping
experience for all types of customers to meet their different
needs. The flagship store will further facilitate our marketing and
promotional programs, product display, group purchases and
enhance our corporate image. It will also serve as a platform for
us to directly communicate with consumers which then enables
us to get updated market information and meet the needs of
In addition, the Group's products will be further
enhanced, our position as a leading international high-end liquor
operator will be strengthened and as a result, the Group will
become the most important partner of the various large liquor
products suppliers. The proposed lines of imported foreign wine
products would increase the effectiveness and efficiency of our
existing five major sales channels, namely, supermarkets, hotel and
restaurants, famous quuor and cigarette stores, group purchasers,
and night venues. In addition, we are considering establishing
a new online shopping platform to promote our products and
services, thus expanding from our existing sales network into an
area where we have not yet covered. We will continue to examine
suitable products, services and channels that can generate the
most benefits and at the same time fully utilize all of our existing
resources.

consumers.

Premium products and strong distribution network
set us apart

Although the business environment worldwide including that of the
PRC is full of challenges, armed with superb quality products and
supported by a professional marketing team and well-established
distribution network, the Group firmly believes it will be able to
maintain its competitive advantage.

STRONG FINANCIAL POSITION DRIVES LONG-
TERM GROWTH

The Group is committed to achieving its mission regardless of
the circumstance. With a solid foundation and sufficient liquidity,
the Group has full confidence in its ability to deal with difficult
environment. The strong financial and cash position will enable the
Group to stay competitive in the market and to expand its sales
and distribution network.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009
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CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has been an active
supporter of and participant in community activities in Hong Kong
and the PRC, contributing resources to the society and charitable
organisations. For example, the Group donated HK$1.0 million
during the year under review to the Community Chest of Hong
Kong to support its charitable activities.

Last but not least, on behalf of the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”), | would like to express my heartfelt
appreciation to the senior management team and all staff for their
hard work and dedication in the past few years. | am confident that
with our concerted effort, we will be able to deliver encouraging
results in the years to come.

Liang Guoxing
Chairman

17 July 2009
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

For the financial year 2009, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$1,252.2 million (2008: HK$1,485.1 million). Gross profit
amounted to HK$627.1 million (2008: HK$559.2 million) with
gross margin at 50.1% (2008: 37.7%). The increase in gross profit
margin was due to the keen demand for the products that the
Group distributed. Riding on its effective business strategies and
cost control, the Group made a record high net profit after tax
for the year of HK$415.1 million, representing an increase of 6.6%
compared to the last corresponding year which is in line with the
profit estimate of not less than HK$400 million as stated in the
Prospectus. Earnings per share were HK$0.461, an increase of
3.8% (2008: HK$0.444).

Since the gain on disposal of a property of HK$32.2 million
generated in the financial year 2008 should not be counted as
profits derived from our core distribution business, the net profit
so derived from our core distribution business should be HK$357.2
million for the financial year 2008. As a result, the increase in net
profit generated from our core distribution business for the two
comparable financial years was at a rate of 16.2%.

During the year under review, the Group distributed the Wuliangye
Liquor Series (one of the most popular high-end traditional Chinese
baijiu (E8) liquors, the below table shows the Group's coverage
of distributorships for the Wuliangye Liquor Series) in the PRC and
international markets. The Group has been the largest distributor of
the Wuliangye Liquor Series since 2000. Moreover, the Wuliangye
Group confirmed that it has not appointed any other distributors
for the series in the markets that we are distributing. In addition to
the Wuliangye Liquor Series, the Group also distributed DIMPLE
brand whisky including the DIMPLE 12-year-old Scotch whisky,
DIMPLE 15-year-old Scotch whisky, and DIMPLE 18-year-old
Scotch whisky, and different Chinese cigarettes brands including
the Hongtashan Premium Series.

The Group is supported with well-established distribution networks
and proven channels in the PRC and different overseas markets. As
at 31 March 2009, international sales accounted for 66.1% of its
total revenue and the PRC market contributed the rest.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009
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TREINBELEZEERNZHEDMIS The table below shows the coverage of distributorships for liquor
I and cigarette products:

Markets ™%
PRC HEl International ElFR
Duty-Paid Duty-Free Duty-Paid Duty-Free
Product Efm TR %B B S8

Wuliangye 52% Hf&i&52/F v v

Principal distributor #24% $57 e

Wuliangye 68% Hig % 68E
Principal distributor 484847

Wuliangye 45% I8/ 45E
Distributor &4

The Wuliangye Liquor Series (39%, 45%,
52% and 68%)
HIEREBE R (39 ~ 45/F ~ 52/F
K 68)

Principal distributor 248857

Wauliangye Special Labels (39% and 52%)
TR HERE (39ER52E)

Non-exclusive (for bulk purchases by certain

governmental departments and corporate
entities) 3FER (15 THF
BPIREREREE)

Wouliangye “Soy” Label Series v
LR [&] BRI
Principal distributor #24% 57

DIMPLE /RE&
Exclusive distributor of DIMPLE for both the

PRC duty-paid and duty-free markets (other ‘.
than Beijing and Shanghai airport
concessions) NE B R M R T I

BHEHEE (FRILRM_ LSS R ETEN)

12 S SEHERERERAR,/ ZSSNEFER
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Markets T35

PRC H[E International BIER
Duty-Paid Duty-Free Duty-Paid Duty-Free
Product Em B B B =B
Hongtashan Premium Series & 243 L %7 4 v v
Exclusive distributor R4 $57
Other PRC brands of cigarette (Dahongying, v

Liqun, Shuangxi (hard/soft packet),
Hongtashan, Hongtashan (Golden), Yuxi,
Yuxi (Golden), Yunyan (Special Edition),
Yunyan (Hong), Yunyan (Chunxiang), Pride,
Furongwang)
H A B @R EE (RALE - FEE
8F (B8 88) - AUEWL - S48 -
TR -&FEX EmERLE - ATE -
BEEEE Bmf  X&ETL)

Non-exclusive distributor JE¥ R & #H8
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Business by Products

A) Liquor Products

1.

Wuliangye Liquor Series

The Group has an over-a-decade long solid relationship
with the Wuliangye Group and has been the largest
distributor of the Wuliangye Liquor Series in the
aforementioned markets since 2000. Wuliangye Liquor
Series is a top-tier and principal product line among the
different brands of liquors of the Wuliangye Group.

In February 2009, the Group was appointed by the
Wuliangye Group as principal distributor of its “Soy”
Label Series, a “soy flavour” (&%) Chinese baijiu (B
JB1) and one of the latest product lines of the Wuliangye
Group, in the PRC duty-paid market. The Group intends
to conduct intensive marketing activities for the new
product in the fourth quarter of 2009.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009 €
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As a premium baijiu product, Wuliangye liquor has
won the “National Famous Liquor” gold prize in China
several times and was named among the “Top 10 China
Well-known Trademarks” in 2008 and the most valuable
national brand in the 2008 China Brand Value Report
published by Beijing Brand name Appraisals Limited*.
In addition, the “Wuliangye"” brand estimated as worth
RMB45 billion last year has been occupying the top
spot as the most valuable brand in the China food and
beverages industry for 14 consecutive years. The report
also named the brand the fourth most valuable PRC

national brand.

DIMPLE Scotch Whisky

First produced from malted grains in Edinburgh in
1888 by John Aloysius Haig, DIMPLE is one of the most
popular Scotch whiskies in the world. With a proven
track record and expertise in distribution of liquor
products in the PRC, the Group was appointed in June
2006 by Diageo as the exclusive distributor of DIMPLE
in the PRC duty-paid market. Then in early 2007, it was
appointed as the exclusive distributor of DIMPLE for
the entire PRC duty-free market (excluding the airport

concessions in Beijing and Shanghai).

The exclusive distributorship of DIMPLE in the PRC
market is of strategic significance to the Group. It
represents the Group's effort to expand its product
range to cover international liquor brands and
reduce reliance on the Wuliangye Group. Obtaining
distributorship of DIMPLE is conducive to the long-term
development of the Group in the PRC market.

During the year under review, from sale of liquor
products, the Group made revenue of approximately
HK$1,182.6 million, accounting for approximately 94.4%
of its total revenue.
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Cigarette Products

In addition to high-end liquors, the Group has been
distributing various PRC cigarette brands in certain duty-
free markets in Asia since 1998. In 2004, the Group was
appointed by the Hongta Group to exclusively distribute the
Hongtashan Premium Series in the international market. The
other cigarette brands distributed by the Group included
Dahongying, Liqun, Shuangxi (hard/soft packet), Hongtashan,
Hongtashan (Golden), Yuxi, Yuxi (Golden), Yunyan (special
edition), Yunyan (Hong), Yunyan (Chunxiang), Pride, and
Furongwang.

In 2007 and 2008, “Hongtashan” was awarded the “Asian
Brand Annual Award” presented by inter alia, Institute
of Certification, Supervision and Management of Asian
Outstanding Brands and the SASAC Research Institute.

During the year under review, from sale of cigarette products,
the Group made revenue of approximately HK$69.6 million,
accounting for approximately 5.6% of its total revenue.

Prospects

The financial meltdown in the US in the second half year of 2008
triggered a global economic downturn and decrease in consumer
confidence. However, the Group remains optimistic about sales

of the high-end liquor and cigarette products it distributes, which

are generally resilient in economic down time. Especially the high

quality liquor products are sold mainly to upper-middle class

consumers and large enterprises and government organisations in

the PRC, which are also perceived as premium gifts and are used
for business receptions.
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In the times ahead, the Group will continue to leverage its long
relationship with the Wuliangye Group and its best baijiu products
— the Wuliangye Liquor Series — to strengthen its distribution
network in the PRC and international markets. The management
of the Group believes by enhancing the distribution networks of
the Group, it will be able to achieve better economies of scale,
optimize cost and improve customer service of the Group. In
February 2009, the Group expanded its product range after
obtaining from the Wuliangye Group principal distributorship
for the “Soy” Label Series in the PRC duty-paid market. The new
product line is expected to become a new growth driver of the
Group in the coming years. In addition, the Group will continue
to take proactive approach in sourcing other high quality liquor
products, such as red wines and other foreign liquors, into the
PRC market to take advantage of the booming high-end consumer
market and rapid recovery of China.

The Group will increase inventories of the Wuliangye Liquor
Series or other products so as to make sure it has sufficient
supply to meet the market demand. The Group will also explore
co-operation opportunities with existing and potential suppliers
to form strategic alliances with the aim of diversifying its product
portfolio. It will seek to better apply its product differentiation
strategy on areas including product packaging and volume to meet
the needs of different customers.

The Group is committed to achieving its mission to become the
world’s leading operator for liquor and cigarette through the
expansion of its product range and distribution network. On a
solid foundation and with adequate liquidity, the Group has full
confidence in its ability to deal with difficult environment. The
management will continue to adjust its business strategy to apply
execution plan in a cautious, cost-effective and disciplined manner.
Riding on a strong financial position and armed with superb quality
products, a professional marketing team and well-established
distribution networks, the management believes that the Group is
able to remain competitive in the market and explore the market
potential further.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Sales and gross profit analysis

Our revenue mainly derived from sales of liquors and cigarettes.
For the financial year 2009, our revenue was HK$1,252.2 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 15.7% when comparing
to our revenue of HK$1,485.1 million for the financial year 2008.
Our cost of sales was reduced by approximately 32.5% from
HK$925.9 million for the financial year 2008 to HK$625.1 million
for the financial year 2009.

Our revenue derived from the distribution of liquors represented
approximately 94.4% of our total revenue for the financial year
2009 and approximately 93.5% of our revenue for the financial
year 2008. Accordingly, our revenue derived from the sales of
distribution of cigarettes represented about 5.6% of our total
revenue for the financial year 2009 and about 6.5% for the financial
year 2008. Within the revenue derived from the distribution of
liquors, there were about 64.1% for the financial year 2009 and
about 52.5% for the financial year 2008 which were derived from
the international market.

Our gross profit has increased by 12.1% from HK$559.2 million
for the financial year 2008 to HK$627.1 million for the financial
year 2009. It was because that, given the keen demand for the
Wuliangye Liquor Series, our sales prices were increased by a
much larger extent which outpaced the impact from the decrease
in sales volume of Wuliangye Liquor Series during the financial
year 2009.

Other income and gains

Other income was decreased by approximately 92.1% from
HK$42.3 million for the financial year 2008 to HK$3.4 million
for the financial year 2009 as there was a gain on disposal of
a property of HK$32.2 million in the financial year 2008 and a

decrease in exchange gain of HK$5.2 million.
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Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses represented approximately
5.9% of our revenue for the financial year 2009. It was increased
by approximately 5.0% from HK$70.8 million for the financial year
2008 to HK$74.3 million for the financial year 2009 mainly as a
result of a more-than-double increase in advertising, marketing
and promotion expenses from HK$5.6 million to HK$17.3 million,
which was partially offsetted by the decrease in entertainment and
inventory storage expenses in the total amount of HK$9.7 million

during the two comparable financial years 2008 and 2009.

Administrative expenses

Administration expenses represented 4.4% of our revenue for the
financial year 2009. It was increased by approximately 18.6% from
HK$46.1 million for the financial year 2008 to HK$54.7 million
for the financial year 2009, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in Listing fees in respect of our initial public offer (“IPO")
launched in March 2009.

Other income/(expenses)

Other income of HK$0.9 million represented 0.1% of our revenue
for the financial year 2009. There were other expenses of HK$3.5
million for the financial year 2008. The changes was largely due to
a reversal of provision for stock by HK$2.4 million for the previous

financial years.

Finance costs

As all the finance leases and bank loans were fully repaid in
the financial year 2008, there is no finance cost charged for the
financial year 2009.

Tax expenses

The effective tax rate changed from approximately 18.9% for the
financial year 2008 to approximately 17.4% for the financial year
2009 which was line with the fact that we have more sales derived
from the international market for the financial year 2009 and the
reduction of Hong Kong profits tax rate when comparing to the
financial year 2008. Our profits derived from the international
market are subject to Hong Kong profits tax at a rate of 16.5% for
the financial year 2009 (2008: 17.5%) while the profits generated
from the PRC market are subject to the PRC's enterprise income
tax rate at a rate of 15%, 18% and 20% for the calendar years
2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.
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Net profit for the year

The net profit after tax for the year was increased by approximately
6.6% from HK$389.4 million for the financial year 2008 to HK$415.1
million for the financial year 2009. The increase in profit was
primarily due to the increase in gross profit of 12.1% which partially
offset by the increase in the selling and distribution expenses of
5.0% and administration expenses of 18.6% when comparing the
two financial years 2008 and 2009.

Since the gain on disposal of a property of HK$32.2 million
generated in the financial year 2008 should not be counted as
profits derived from our core business, the net profit so derived
from our core business should be HK$357.2 million for the financial
year 2008. As a result, the increase in net profit generated from
our core business for the two comparable financial years was at
a rate of 16.2%.

Dividends

On 30 September 2008 and 20 February 2009, the directors of
the Company (the "Directors”) declared interim dividends for the
financial year 2009 of HK$250,000,000 and HK$60,000,000 which
were fully paid during the financial year.

No final dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for
the financial year 2009.
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Trade receivables analysis

Generally, our customers settle payment obligations in cash or
promissory notes endorsed by reputable banks before our goods
were delivered. We also grant a credit period of up to 90 days
to some of our long-term or reliable customers such as duty free
outlets for the international market. We adopt stringent credit

policy such that our trade receivable days are considered low.

As at 31 March 2009, the trade receivables was HK$26.0 million
(2008: HK$18.0 million). The trade receivables were increased
as there were more promissory notes which have not yet been
matured at the year end date and therefore, those respective
trade receivables, although secured by promissory notes, were
still treated as unsettled at the year end. Approximately 91.4%
of the trade receivables are within two months as at 31 March
2009. No further provision for impairment for the trade receivable
is necessary as the outstanding debts are considered to be

recoverable.

Trade and bills payables analysis

The trade and bills payables were mainly for purchasing (1)
Wuliangye Liquor Series distributed for the international market,
the settlement of which was by way of letter of credit, and (2)
packaging materials for the production of Wuliangye Liquor
Series.

As at 31 March 2009, the trade and bills payable was HK$1.9
million (2008: HK$43.9 million). The trade and bills payables were
reduced as less Wuliangye Liquor Series were purchased by us
from the supplier due to delay in product shipment during the
second half of the financial year 2009 and the majority of the
outstanding trade debts have been settled prior to the financial

year end.
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Inventories analysis

We generally maintain our inventories at certain acceptable level
to meet the seasonal, market and other commercial needs.

As at 31 March 2009, our inventories were HK$189.5 million (2008:
HK$172.2 million). The increase in inventories was primarily caused
by the increase in stock of packaging material prepared for future

production.

Liquidity and financial position

Our working capital was healthy and positive for the financial
years 2008 and 2009 and we generally financed our operation with
internal cash flows generated from operations for the past years.
Our net current assets decreased from HK$487.9 million as at 31
March 2008 to HK$236.1 million as at 31 March 2009 primarily due
o (i) the final dividend payment for the financial year 2008 and
the interim dividend for the financial year 2009; (ii) the settlement
of Hong Kong profits tax and PRC tax of HK$113.3 million and (iii)
the settlement of amount due to minority shareholders of HK$34.4
million. We continue to maintain a stable and healthy financial
position with cash and cash equivalent of approximately HK$85.8
million as at 31 March 2009. Our liquidity position has become
significantly stronger after the receipt of the net proceeds raised
from the IPO.

Borrowings and bank facilities

As at 31 March 2009, our banking facilities were secured by our
investment property with a net book value of HK$7,966,000 (2008:
HK$8,175,000) and personal guarantee executed by Mr. Liang Guoxing
("Mr. Liang”). The guarantee provided by Mr. Liang was released
on 8 April 2009 and has been replaced by a corporate guarantee
provided by the Company upon the Listing on the same date.
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Employment and remuneration policy

We had a total of 200 employees as at 31 March 2009. We
have implemented our remuneration policy, bonus and share
option schemes based on the achievements and performance of
employees. We have also participated in the mandatory provident
fund Scheme in Hong Kong and state managed retirement benefit
scheme in the PRC. We continue to provide training courses for
our staff to enhance their productivity.

Share option scheme

On 20 February 2009, we have adopted a share option scheme
(the “"Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the growth of
the Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include, without
limitation, employees, Directors and any other eligible persons.
Up to 31 March 2009, no share option has been granted or agreed
to be granted to any person under the Scheme.

Initial public offer and use of proceeds

On 8 April 2009, we were successfully listed on the Stock Exchange.
Our IPO was well received by investors in both the international
offering and the Hong Kong public offering. The Hong Kong
public offering was oversubscribed by approximately 44 times.
Net proceeds raised from the IPO were approximately HK$927.5

million.

As stated in the Prospectus, we intend to use approximately 65%
of the net proceeds for business development, approximately 25%
for increasing inventory levels, approximately 10% for our general
working capital. As at the date of this report, we do not anticipate
any change to this plan.



HITES

REREE 435 - ZHRMNEIHRAFRE
F-REATBEEAEENBROAAR
B - REINMEBBEROTIE - RELERTE
BEHENMEHEERR T FRER - REER
FT—ETFEARBAWMAEGZHETHEH
ZERZEB  RETETPEARBAHES
BERERE -WARBBEEECERE

=
B o

REMBELE 4158 — RRPIWITHRAER - R
FER_ZTZLF-AMARM - WEER
SEEBRENER KRR BEEE
REBOTE - REENHERKHETF
EHEEEEMMNEGRER  BRES RA
BEEHALEMH LR - RELMAR
SEF > AREES (FE) BRAAMNALK
2 RABXES (BE) ARRRNZER
Bl REEH-NN=ZFALRE=-F
EFLARERBRAERETHELE
BREBFRLE (BRI : 00025) %M
BARMEERM  BEKAETETSE R
TRMEIHINTS (NEE - BE - A8 - 3
RERAR)NTE - RELERFE T =ZEF
BARBAHGESZEMNTUEREES - K
NRELEZEGEREE - REER N
NEEFRORABRBXBELEAM - TR
—NN=FREZRENTHRM TR L 20
NEEEE -

DIRECTORS PROFILE
SREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liang Guoxing (R B #), aged 43, is our founder and Chairman.
Mr. Liang is primarily responsible for the overall corporate
strategies, planning and business development of our Group. Mr.
Liang has over 10 years of experience in the sales and distribution
of Chinese liquor and cigarettes. Mr. Liang is a standing committee
member of the 11th Session of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, Zhanjiang and a member of the 10th
Session of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Guangdong Province. He is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny (BREt8), aged 41, is our Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Chen joined us in January 2007. He is
responsible for the overall strategic implementation, business
development and daily operations and management of our Group.
Mr. Chen has extensive knowledge and experience in business
development, international trade and project management in sales
and distribution of electrical, mechanical and consumer products.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chen was the general manager
of Faithful Trading (H.K.) Limited and the operations controller
of GOME Home Appliances (H.K.) Ltd (BEIEEEEH)BRAF).
Further, Mr. Chen held a number of executive positions with the
subsidiaries of Chevalier International Holdings Limited (=4[
BrEEAPR A T]) (stock code: 00025), which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from September 1993 to July 2002
during which he was responsible for the China market and different
overseas markets such as the United States, Vietnam, Myanmar,
Philippines and Japan. Mr. Chen is a member of the 13th Session
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, Yueshou
District, Guangzhou City. He is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Arts in 1990, and a bachelor’s degree in Administrative
Studies and a certificate in Management in 1992, all from York

University.
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Mr. Chung Wai Man ($&3), FccA, cPA, aged 45, is our Chief
Financial Officer. Mr. Chung joined us in May 2004. He is
responsible for overseeing the investment, legal and financial
affairs, and general business development of our Group. Mr.
Chung has over 19 years of experience in accounting, taxation
and finance. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chung has worked
for two listed companies as the position of chief financial officer.
Mr. Chung had held a managerial position with Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu for about five years. He became an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(then known as the Hong Kong Society of Accountants) in 1995
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom in 1999. In December 1989,
Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor’'s degree (honours) in Social
Sciences from the University of Hong Kong, and, in November
1998, a master's degree in International Business Management
from the City University of Hong Kong.

Ms. Cheung Mei Sze (2% R), aged 36, is our Executive Director
and the Head of Finance. Ms. Cheung joined our Group in
September 2000 and is responsible for the financial and accounting
affairs of the Group. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Cheung was
an assistant supervisor in Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, a CPA firm. Ms.
Cheung holds a bachelor’s degree in Arts majoring in Accountancy

from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wu Jie Si (E#8), aged 57, is our Non-Executive Director.
Mr. Wu has over 20 years of experience in finance and corporate
management in the PRC. From 1984 to 1995, Mr. Wu served
in numerous positions in the Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China ("ICBC"), including the president of ICBC Shenzhen
Branch. From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Wu served as the deputy mayor
of the Shenzhen Municipal Government. From 1998 to 2000,
Mr. Wu served as the assistant to the governor of Guangdong
Province. From 12 February 2000 to 8 May 2001, Mr. Wu joined
Guangdong Enterprise (Holdings) Limited ("GDE") as a director
during the process of assisting its debt restructuring. Mr. Wu
ceased to be a director of GDE shortly after the closing of its
debt restructuring on 22 December 2000. From 2000 to 2005,
Mr. Wu was appointed as the chairman of Guangdong Yue Gang
Investment Holdings Company Limited (ER E#&R&EZER AR A7)
and GDH Limited (BRZER AR 2 F). Mr. Wu has been appointed
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in various positions in companies listed on the Stock Exchange and
the New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Wu served as the chairman of
Guangdong Investment Limited (/81 & AR A F]) (stock code:
00270) (“GDI") from March 2000 to March 2001, as a director of
GDI from March 2000 to April 2005 and as the honorary president
of GDI from March 2001 to April 2005. Mr. Wu also served as a
director and honorary president of Guangdong Tannery Limited
(B)5HIEBMRAT]) (stock code: 01058) from February 2004 to
April 2005. Both companies are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. While Mr. Wu was serving as the chairman
and then an honorary president of GDI, GDI and its subsidiaries
underwent a debt restructuring, details of which were included
in GDI's announcements dated 23 December 2000 and 6 May
2003. From April 2005 to January 2008, Mr. Wu was appointed
as the executive director and from June 2005 to January 2008,
Mr. Wu was appointed as the managing director and the chief
executive officer of Hopson Development Holdings Limited (&4
BIREB AR AT (stock code: 00754) which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. From May 2007 to August 2008,
Mr. Wu also served as an independent non-executive director
of Yingli Green Energy Holding Company Limited (EF|4k 258
TRIEIE AR A E]) (Stock Code: YGE) which is listed on the New
York Stock Exchange. Mr. Wu is currently an independent non-
executive director of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (3t R#%
X B BR A A]) (stock code: 00392), China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
(FRERITIRM B MR A F]) (stock code: 03968) and China Insurance
International Holdings Company Limited (F{REIFRIZRRBR A7)
(stock code: 00966), companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Wu is also a non-executive director of China
Water Affairs Group Limited (FEIKFEEEFR A F) (stock code:
00855) and Shenzhen Investment Limited (EYIFEERZHR A F)
(stock code: 00604), and an executive director and vice chairman
of China Aoyuan Property Group Limited (1 B2 [&3th & & E
BBRAR]) (stock code: 3883), all of which are companies listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wu obtained a
master’s degree in Economics in 1984 and a doctor’s degree in
Economics in 1996, both from Research Institution of the People’s
Bank of China. Mr. Wu completed post-doctoral research work
in Theoretical Economics at Nankai University in 1998-2000 and
was qualified as a professor in theoretical economics B2 &LH) in
Nankai University in 2001.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan (#t¥%#), aged 40, is our Independent Non-
Executive Director. From January 1995 to April 1997, Mr. Hung
worked with the audit division of Coopers & Lybrand Certified
Public Accountants (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers) and
was a Supervisor. In 1997, he started his own practice under the
name “Hung Sui Kwan Certified Public Accountant”. In March
2000, Mr. Hung joined Get Nice Securities Limited (“Get Nice
Securities”) (formerly known as “Get Nice Investment Limited”,
a subsidiary of Get Nice Holdings Limited (&5 %F1ZR%HER A R])
("Get Nice") (stock code: 00064), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange) as a senior management. During the
period from January 2001 to September 2002, he was appointed
as an executive director of Get Nice. He is currently a director
of Venture Partners CPA Limited, the company secretary of Get
Nice and is registered as Responsible Officer of Get Nice Capital
Limited (a subsidiary of Get Nice) under the SFO (for regulated
activity “advising on corporate finance”). From January 2005 to
August 2006, Mr. Hung was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Century Legend (Holdings) Limited (H42%#
¥ (EE)BRAF) (stock code: 00079), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. In 1991, Mr. Hung obtained
a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Hong Kong.
In 1996, he became an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (then known as the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants). In 1997, he became an associate
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in the United Kingdom. Mr. Hung currently holds a practising
certificate issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Mr. Guan Huanfei (B8%3), aged 52, is our Independent Non-
Executive Director. Mr. Guan is experienced in the finance and
insurance industry in Hong Kong and the PRC. Mr. Guan served
various senior managerial positions in the People’s Insurance
Company of China (Jilin Branch) (FEIARRB AT EMNEHRF),
the business department of Hong Kong and Macao Regional Office
of China Insurance Group (F EI{RE2EREIREE), Ming An Insurance
Company (Hong Kong) Limited (&R ZRBR AR A7) and China
Pacific Insurance Co., (HK) Ltd. (FBAKFEFRE(ES)BREAR).
Mr. Guan also held offices with the Bank of Communications,
including the deputy chairman of the risk asset management
committee (AREEEIEZEGREIFEZEE), deputy chairman of
credit asset management committee (EEEEERZEgRETHEE
8), chairman of loan verification committee (EREBLZESTEE
&) and deputy general manager of the Bank of Communications
Hong Kong Branch, the director of Bank of Communications
Trustee Limited (3238 #R1T{E5E B PR 2 ) and the chairman and chief
executive of China BOCOM Insurance Co., Ltd. (FEIZRIRE AR
A A]). Mr. Guan is also an economic and technical adviser to the
People’s Government of Jilin province, the PRC (& & A RBUT L
ERATEEM). Mr. Guan obtained a doctor’s degree in Economics in
2000 from Wuhan University and was a post-doctoral researcher in
Theoretical Economics with Fudan University from 2000 to 2002.
Mr. Guan has been a part-time researcher GRELFFFEE) of the
Insurance Research Centre of Fudan University since 2004.
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Mr. Ma Lishan (F53Z1L), aged 57, is our Independent Non-Executive
Director. Mr. Ma is experienced in corporate management. Prior
to joining our Group, Mr. Ma served various senior managerial
positions in the PRC food, edible oils and wine industries. Mr. Ma
was appointed as an executive director from January 1996, was
appointed as director and managing director from May 1997 and
was appointed from April 2002 to June 2003 as the managing
director of China Foods Limited (T EMAR A F]) (stock code:
00506) (formerly known as “China Foods Holdings Limited (¥
ERMEREBEERAF)" and “COFCO International Limited
(PR MBEE AR AR)"), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. In 2000, he was appointed as the deputy
general manager of China Foods Import and Export (Group)
Co., Ltd. (FEIE MR ME L O(EE)ER A F]). From June 2003 to
July 2005, Mr. Ma was the deputy managing director of COFCO
(Hong Kong) Limited (1 Blfg i & fh 5 B (FH ) BB A 7). From June
2008 to January 2009, Mr. Ma was an executive director of Sino
Resources Group Limited (carrying on business in Hong Kong
as Sino Gp Limited) (iMEREBBRAF) (formerly known as
Kenfair International (Holdings) Limited (BRI ERA
7l]) (stock code: 00223) which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. In 1975, Mr. Ma graduated from the University
of Foreign Languages in Beijing.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management comprises our Executive Directors, our

company secretary and the following persons:

Ms. Zhao Xin (%), aged 31, is the Chief Operation Officer for
the PRC market of our Group. She joined our Group in February
2006 and is responsible for the daily business operation and
management of Silver Base Trading and Development (Shenzhen)
Co., Limited. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Zhao was the Media
Supervisor (BT E%E) of the advertisement division of Henan
Provincial Foodstuffs Co., Ltd. (AIE & BIR A 7)) and the client
liaison manager (EF £ %&) of the Henan liaison department of
“National Confectionery and Alcohol Affair (2BI#EEE)". She
is an advanced-level sales and marketing personnel (S A & 8
BM) registered with the Henan Provincial Sales and Marketing
Committee (A& & E) and is certified by the Ministry of
Personnel of the PRC (F#EARILFE AEZ) as specialised in
elementary business administration (714 & %% ). Ms. Zhao holds
a diploma in Interior Arts (B EEMT) from the Henan Provincial
Employee’s University of Light Industry (RFA&E 8 T T K2 in
the PRC.

Ms. Chan Sing Doris (BR2), aged 34, is the Manager of
Administration and Human Resources of Silver Base International
Development Co., Limited. Ms. Chan joined our Group in November
1997 and is responsible for formulating and implementing our
Group’s human resources policies and advising strategic and
tactical human resources issues. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Chan served various secretarial and administrative roles in
a number of corporations in Hong Kong. Ms. Chan enrolled in
a course on corporate administration at Hong Kong Technical
College.

Ms. Kong Wai Man ((IHR), aged 40, is the Marketing Manager
of Silver Base International Development Co., Limited. Ms. Kong
joined our Group in September 2004 and is responsible for
marketing development of international tobacco and liquor
markets. Ms. Kong has over 10 years of experience in marketing.
Prior to joining our Group, she worked for one of the global
leading international tobacco companies as a brand marketing
manager. Ms. Kong has a bachelor’'s degree in Chinese and
English Bilingual Secretarial Management from Jinan University
(ZERAE) in the PRC.
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Ms. Luk Wan Sang Oriana (FE#8%4), aged 38, is the Business
Manager of Silver Base International Development Co., Limited.
Ms. Luk joined our Group in December 2002 and is responsible
for business development of PRC tobacco division. Ms. Luk has
over 10 years of work experience in trading companies. Ms. Luk
has a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the Royal

Melbourne Institute of Technology University (RMIT University).

Mr. Tse Chung Leung (#ifR R), aged 36, is the Sales Manager of
Silver Base International Development Co., Limited. Mr. Tse joined
our Group in September 2000. Mr. Tse is responsible for, and has
knowledge in, the sales and distribution of liquor and cigarettes
in the Southeast Asian and PRC duty-free markets.

Ms. So Hiu Tung Miranda (8%#&f¥), aged 38, is the Senior Finance
Manager of Silver Base International Development Co., Limited.
Ms. So joined our Group in August 2007 and is responsible for
financial reporting affairs and assisting the Board in formulating
internal control procedures of the Group. She has about 12 years of
experience in financial and accounting with different corporations.
In 1998, she became a Certified Practising Accountant registered
with CPA Australia (then known as the Australian Society of
Certified Practising Accountants) and an associate member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (then
known as the Hong Kong Society of Accountants). Ms. So holds
a bachelor's degree in Commerce majoring in Accounting from
the University of Canberra, Australia and a master's degree in
Business Administration from the University of Portsmouth in the
United Kingdom.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chung Wai Man (#1&3), aged 45, is our company secretary
and Chief Financial Officer. He is employed by our Group on a
full-time basis. His biographical details are set out in the above

paragraph headed “Executive Directors”.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Silver Base Group Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2009.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted limited liability company under the Companies Law
on 12 September 2007. Pursuant to a group reorganisation (the
“Corporate Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure of the
Group in preparation of the Listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange, the Company became the holding company
of the Group on 26 September 2008.

Details of the Corporate Reorganisation are set out in the
paragraph headed “Corporate re-organisation” on Appendix VI
to the Prospectus of the Company.

The Company'’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 8 April 2009 (the “Listing Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Particulars of the principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's

principal activities during the financial year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2009 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out

in the financial statements on pages 52 to 120.

Pursuant to directors’ resolutions passed on 30 September 2008
and 20 February 2009, the interim dividend of HK$250,000,000
and HK$60,000,000 representing HK$65.79 and HK$15.79 per
ordinary share of the Company, respectively, were declared to
Yinji Investments Limited (“Yinji Investments”), who then was the
sole shareholder of the Company. Yinji Investments is a company
wholly-owned by our chairman Mr. Liang. The interim dividends

were fully paid during the year.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009

31



32

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EERWE

EEERAFETRERPRES -

M- BERRERRENRE

MBEER > AEEME  BERRERK
EMENBBFED BISER P BHERME14
K15 REBEYE BEERBRREDE
B — PRIE D R BN FEISEICH M FE97
Ho

@S

MBRFEEAR > RARBANBEFBEHNY
R M FE25 ©

BrBERER

NN B RN S i ave: k12
HENRRDALEABEEBERENGRY -

B

B-ZTNF AT HEMANRAERE
FHEILAZRE - I BB TR A o

R-ZTZNF_A-+H ARFRRILE
Wik ARt &) (TR AR E)) - BBAHE
AP ERGFBMENT ¢

() BREFIASEZBHABERSEE (E
ER T BREARDRREROEE
BE#MBRRERMEELE N A
A LRSI A] R AR EIE R LB RE
HERKEFOAL -

(i) BEREASNAER2EEREEMNE
8 MITRIFRITES - AEEEAK
BRAMEmIRBH TP HHEER
HRER - B ReR - EBBHX
BRAG e -

REEEZERARAR, —ETZNFFH

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend

for the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment property of the Group during the financial year are set
out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively.
Further details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
and investment property are set out on pages 95-96 and 97,

respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the

financial year are set out in note 25 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands

where the Company is incorporated.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

No option has been granted under the Company’s Share Option
Scheme since its adoption on 20 February 2009.

On 20 February 2009, the shareholders of the Company had
approved and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”). Key terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarized

below:

()  The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an
incentive for the Qualified Participant (defined below) to
work with commitment towards enhancing the value of our
Company and our shares for the benefit of our shareholders
and to retain and attract persons whose contributions are
or may be beneficial to the growth and development of our
Group.

(i) Qualifying participants of the Share Option Scheme include
any employee, executive and Non-Executive Directors,
customer or supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group, consultant, adviser, contractor, business partner

or service provider.
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The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 120,000,000
shares, being 10% of the total number of shares in issue as
at 8 April 2009, the Listing Date on the Stock Exchange.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Compnay, must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares in issue
from time to time.

Unless approved by shareholders in general meeting, the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted to any eligible participant under the
Share Option Scheme in the 12 month period up to and
including such further grant must not exceed 1% of the total
number of shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption
of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no further
option shall be granted.

(vii) A non-refundable consideration of HK$1 is payable on

acceptance of the offer of grant of an option. An offer of
grant of an option may be accepted by an eligible person
within the date as specified in the offer letter issued by the
Company, being a date not later than 5 business days from
the date on which the offer is made.

(viii) An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of

(ix)

the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period (which
may not expire later than 10 years from the date of the grant)
to be notified by the Board at its sole discretion.

The subscription price must be at least the higher of (1) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant; (2) the average
of the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the immediately
preceding five trading days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (3) the nominal value of a Company’s share.

The Board is entitled at any time within 10 years between 20
February 2009 and 20 February 2019 to offer the grant of an
option to any qualifying participants.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009

33



34

OF THE DIRECT

BEEAREAH  EFTSHAREBERE
SR IR

fitta

MBEEAR  ARARAKENHEZSF

B0 BB B 15 MR M iE26(b) MR A 5 &
#$x -

AT A Ik H B
R-FBTENFZA=T—F  ARFNAH
SRR A228.0E BT -
MBERBE

AEEBENEAVRFEEAMOFRERE
ERERIBERESOME (BERELK
BRUBRRALEEEEYENHE) &
RE6E °

BE  HEIEDERSG

AR BB 4 PO 4 B EAE (TR » R AR
SEAE B D R AN R EABE R
HEAQ A E AR -

BEBX

BIMFRER  AEEELBRAK21ESE
7TED

£

ERNAATEER -

HITES

PRABS%HE (R-EEHENH = AEEE)
BB (R BTN A+ AEET)
BEXEE (RCETHEAF+—ARST)
BEBL+ (R-TTN\E=ANARSET)

FUITESE:
REDSFELE (R-FE/\FZANAREL)

BMFITES

AL (R -FENF=ANNHRZL)
BRIE Rt (R-FENFZHANAEZE)

BIUIEE (R-FENF=ZHAEZE)

G BEEEERARDT, —STHEFR

Up to the date of this report, no option under the Share Option
Scheme has yet been granted by the Board.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the financial year are set out in note 26(b) to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 March 2009, the Company'’s reserves available for distribution
amounted to HK$228.0 million.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
minority interests of the Group for the last four financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 6.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or
sold any of the Company's shares during the financial year.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the financial year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling HK$2.1 million.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liang Guoxing (Appointed on 12 September 2007)

Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny (Appointed on 12 September 2007)
Mr. Chung Wai Man (Appointed on 12 September 2007)

Ms. Cheung Mei Sze (Appointed on é March 2008)

Non-Executive Director:

Mr. Wu Jie Si (Appointed on 6 March 2008)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan (Appointed on é March 2008)
Mr. Guan Huanfei (Appointed on 6 March 2008)
Mr. Ma Lishan (Appointed on 6 March 2008)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFRHE

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, all Directors were appointed by the Board, they will
retire from directorship in the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election.

In compliance of Rule 3.10(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), the Board currently comprises three independent
Non-Executive Directors, representing more than one-third of the
Board.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Messrs. Hung Sui Kwan and Guan Huanfei and Ma Lishan
as at the date of this report. The Company considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 23 to 30
of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our existing Executive Directors (other than Ms. Cheung
Mei Sze) has a service contract with the Company for an initial
fixed term of three years commencing on 12 September 2007.
Ms. Cheung Mei Sze has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years which commenced on é March
2008.

Each of our independent Non-Executive Directors and Non-
Executive Director has been appointed by the Company for an
initial fixed term of three years commencing on 6 March 2008.

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2009, since the shares of the Company were not
listed on the Stock Exchange, Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), Section 352 of the
SFO, and the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

were not applicable to the Company and the Directors.

As at 8 April 2009, being the date of the Listing of the shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange, the interests of our Directors
and chief executives of our Company in the equity or debt
securities of our Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of part XV of the SFO) which had to be notified to
our Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which was required, under section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to in that section, or under
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies in the Listing Rules, to be notified to our Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Company
Number and YNz )
Nature of interest class of securities BAER
Name of Director EE#H RERME EHEA RER BO
Mr. Liang 254 Interest in a controlled 900,000,000 (L) J& (47 &) 75%
corporation AL E 45,000,000 (S) fx (£ &) 3
HIE a2

! [FE] R KR DREZALTRZERNHER

KA e

2 254 BYinji InvestmentsE 1T AX AN 100% 80 &E
wEA AR R A G RITESAEHITTEYinji
InvestmentslR R A G R AME=S 2z~ UL H
WRBHEAYinji InvestmentstF A KR MHAER ©

ZE R JIUBS AGELYinji InvestmentsiR — T
NFEMA=HRISLZ BRBHE TG -

RESEZRRAERRE, _ZTNFFR

! The letter “L” and ”S” denote the person’s long and short position,

respectively, in such Shares.

2 Mr. Liang is the beneficial owner of 100% of the issued share capital of
Yinji Investments and is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Yinji
Investments by virtue of Mr. Liang being entitled to exercise or control the
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general meetings of Yinji

Investments.

3 These shares were subject of a stock borrowing agreement dated 3 April 2009

entered into between UBS AG and Yinji Investments.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2009, the following person (not being a Director or a
chief executive of the Company) had interest or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

FERR

RZZFEZNF=ZA=1t—8  ATAL (K
RABFEHLTETRABRIN) RARFK
AR O T EERIEES P E RIS
336FRIFENELMAHNERIAR -

Percentage of

Number of shareholding

Nature of interest ordinary shares held FrismefE

Name of shareholder B3R &8 ERHE s EREE EREDL
Yinji Investments? Direct beneficially owned 3,800,000 100%

BEEERER

REFNEEMAE > IN_FZENFOA
NB (AR BROREER AT LT B - A
T A LA SARR A (0 B IR IR 5
KRB G BIEXVERE 235 B G R 7R A
ARABFEBENGFRIKR » KEERLAEER
BRI RERBR TR ARBRETAHE L
AR A M & FROREN AR R AEE
10%3% A R RS -

So far as our Directors are aware, or at 8 April 2009, being the date
of Listing of the shares of the Company or the Stock Exchange,
the following persons had an interest or short position in shares or
underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to our Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO or
who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote
in all circumstances at general meetings of our Company or any
of our subsidiaries:

Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Company

Nature of interest Number of shares ¥ UNEST )

Name of shareholder B3R &8 ERMEE ROHE" BAEZT I

Yinji Investments Direct beneficial interest 900,000,000 (L) i& (47 &) 75%
BEREREAES 45,000,000 (S) & (##&) 3

Mr. Liang 254 Interest in a controllerd 900,000,000 (L) A% (47&) 75%

corporation X2 E

45,000,000 (S) B& O%2) 2

F)fE2a

T IRIRDKR] DRUERALRESRONEE
R -

The letter “L" and “S” denote the person’s long and short position,
respectively, in such Shares.

2 R BYinji InvestmentsE 21T AN100%H) B 2
mEE ARBEREEBRITESIEHITRYinji
Investmentsfi R KGR ARE=5D 2 —sk A £ - H
WS AEAYinji Investmentsi A MAL(H 2

Mr. Liang is the beneficial owner of 100% of the issued share capital of
Yinji Investments and is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Yinji
Investments by virtue of Mr. Liang being entitled to exercise or control the
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general meetings of Yinji

Investments.

B ZERRH TIUBS AGELYinji InvestmentsiR =& % 3 These shares were subject of a stock borrowing agreement dated 3 April 2009

NFEA=Z BRI BRBZEE TR -

entered into between UBS AG and Yinji Investments.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Mr. Liang, being a beneficial owner of Silver Base (Holdings)
Limited, was interested in the contracts for the lease of office and
staff quarters to the Group. Further details of the transactions
undertaken in connection therewith are included in note 32 to the
financial statements. Save as disclosed above, no Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year had the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, holding companies entered into any arrangement
which enables the exiting Directors or chief executives to have
the right to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares or
debentures in the Company or any other legal entities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and participating in the People’s Republic of China
state-managed retirement benefits scheme, the Group has not
operated any other retirement benefits schemes for the Group’s
employees.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed, no contracts of significance in relation to
the business of the Group, to which the Company, its holding
companies, its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the financial year or at any time during the financial year.

Save as disclosed, no contracts of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted
at the end of the financial year or at any time during the financial
year.

Other than the financial guarantee contract disclosed in note 24(a)
to the financial statements of this annual report, no contracts of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the financial year or at any time during

the financial year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFRHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, no Directors are
considered to have interests in a business which competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
and purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for around
69.6% and 94.9% of the total sales and purchases for the financial
year, respectively. The Group’s largest customer and supplier
accounted for around 54.9% and 78.2% of the total sales and
purchases for the financial year, respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, none of the Directors of the
Company or any of their associates or any shareholders which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital had any beneficial interest in the

Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As set out in note 32 to the financial statements of this report,
during the year, the Group had rental expenses paid to Silver
Base (Holdings) Limited and Mr. Liang amounted to HK$8,628,000
and HK$753,000, respectively. Pursuant to Rule 14A.42(3) of
the Listing Rules, our Company has applied for, and the Stock
Exchange has agreed to grant, a waiver from strict compliance
with announcement requirements under Rule 14A.47 of the Listing
Rules in respect of the above transactions. Details of the aforesaid
transaction have been disclosed in the section headed “Connected

Transactions” of the Prospectus.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established its audit committee (”Audit Committee”)
in June 2008. The audit committee currently comprises three
independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Hung Sui Kwan,
Mr. Guan Huanfei and Mr. Ma Lishan.
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The Audit Committee has adopted a written terms of references
which is in compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is primarily responsible for the review and supervision
of the financial reporting process and internal control process. It
has reviewed the accounting principles, accounting standards and
methods adopted by the Company together with the management,
discussed the matters concerning the internal controls, as well as
reviewed the Group's audited annual results for the year ended
31 March 2009.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the company by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiry to all the Directors of the Company, all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code throughout the
period from the date of the Listing of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange and up to the date of this annual report.

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICE

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the”Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. As the Company’s shares
were listed on 8 April 2009, the Company was not required to
comply with the requirements under the Code or the continuing
obligations requirements of a listed company pursuant to the
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2009. Since the date of
Listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange and up to
the date of this annual report, the Company has complied with the

applicable code provisions as set out in the Code.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to
pages 42 to 49 of this annual report.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE
COMPANY'S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The shares of the Company were listed on 8 April 2009 on the
Stock Exchange. The net proceeds from the Company’s issue of
new shares (after deducting underwriting commission and related
expenses) amounted to approximately HK$927.5 million, which
are intended to be applied in accordance with the proposed
application set out in the section headed “Future plans and use
of proceeds” in the Prospectus.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The shares of the Company were listed on 8 April 2009 on the
Stock Exchange. Based on the publicly available information
and to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief and at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float since the Listing of the shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Details of the significant post balance sheet events of the Group
are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for new appointment
of auditors for the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Liang Guoxing
Chairman
Hong Kong
17 July 2009
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RATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors reviews its corporate governance practices
from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and comply with the increasing stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance. The Board is committed to maintaining a
good standard of corporate governance practices and business
ethics in the firm belief that they are essential for maintaining and
promoting investors’ confidence and maximizing shareholders’
returns.

As set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, “The Code on
Corporate Governance Practices” (the “CG Code”), the CG Code
sets out two levels of corporate governance practices namely,
mandatory code provisions that a listed company must comply with
or explain its non-compliance, and recommended best practices
that a listed company is encouraged to comply with but need not
disclose in the case of noncompliance.

As the Company was not yet listed on the Stock Exchange during
the period under review, the CG Code was not applicable to the
Company for the said period. Since the Listing Date on 8 April
2009, the Company is in compliance with the mandatory code
provisions of the CG Code, save as disclosed below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is in charge of providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Group. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the
Group and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall
objectives and strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews the corporate governance
standard of the Group. It also decides on matters such as annual
and interim results, major transactions, Director appointments or
re-appointment, and dividend and accounting policies. Director
profiles of the Company as at the date of this report are set out
on pages 23 to 28.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to certain Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the compliance
committee (the “Compliance Committee”) and the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) (collectively, the
"Board Committee”).
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Our Board comprises 4 Executive Directors, 1 Non-Executive
Director and 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors. The full
Board has met two times during the year under review. The
attendance of Directors at the Board Meetings and the Board

Committees Meetings is set out in the table below:

SERLEE BITRE
Meetings Attended/Held
Audit Remuneration

Board Committee Committee
Directors % EExg EREEE FHEEE
Executive Directors #1{TE&%
Mr. Liang Guoxing 2B % 4 2/2 N/A TiEH VAl
Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny BREEE 5 & 2/2 N/A i A 11
Mr. Chung Wai Man §E{&X %4 2/2 N/A 135 A N/A 138 A
Ms. Cheung Mei Sze EEXRB X+ 2/2 N/A TiEH N/A TNiEH
Non-Executive Director 3E#HITES
Mr. Wu Jie Si BB 54 2/2 N/A i N/A i
Independent Non-Executive Directors B F#TESE
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan s 5 4 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Guan Huanfei f@)x3Esc 4 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Ma Lishan §37 1154 2/2 2/2 1/1

EFeXERWETMYS - 255 Riksk
EMBAEFE - BRIE LRI Ex165512BER -
BRI TEECEE ETRBIE3.131F

S BE EEEEEBREE I -

RERETE  ARRMNESTSSRIER
BEEHETRLIELN KOBFERT—
R VERTEEHBRERE  BAAEE
HEBRBURMBRE 2BEEENE
‘T*Eﬁi%%?%ﬁﬂﬁ MARBERESZEE
wET BREFERBSTANEGERM
Wa@é%%%(’%%T HEEHFIANETS

ANTALFEEE

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
relationships with each other. Pursuant to paragraph 12B of
Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules, each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors has confirmed in writing his independence
with regard to the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of

the Listing Rules.

After listed on the Stock Exchange, the Company will adopt the
practice of holding board meetings regularly for at least four
times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings
will also be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy
as well as financial performance of the Group. Notice of board
meeting will be sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a
regular board meeting. Reasonable notice will be given to the
Directors for ad-hoc board meetings. Directors may participate

either in person or through electronic means of communication.
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ORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company will adopt the practice to provide relevant
materials to all Directors relating to the matters brought before
the meetings. All the Directors will be provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties, and, upon reasonable request,
the Directors will be able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
All Directors will have the opportunity to include matters in the

agenda for board meetings.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

As the Board is involved in the appointment of new Directors, the
Group has not established a nomination committee. The Board
will take into consideration criteria such as expertise, experience,
integrity and commitment when considering new Director
appointments. All candidates must also meet the standards as
set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate
who is to be appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13

of the Listing Rules.

All Directors are subject to retirement and re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meetings of the Company. New
Directors appointed by the Board during any year are required
to retire and submit themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting or general meeting immediately following their
appointments. Further, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third are required to
retire from office by rotation and no later than the third annual
general meeting since the last re-election or appointment of such
Director. Currently, all Independent Non-Executive Directors and
Non-Executive Director are appointed for a specific term of three
years from March 2008.

The service contracts of the Executive Directors, Non-Executive
Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors were
considered and confirmed at the full board meeting of the
Company on 23 June 2008.
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CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has a separate Chairman, Mr. Liang and Chief
Executive Officer, Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny. This segregation
of duties ensures a clear distinction between the Chairman’s and
the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibilities with the former to
manage the Board together with certain business development
functions and overall corporate strategies while the Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for managing the Company’s daily business

operations.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in June 2008 with written
terms of reference. Mr. Hung Sui Kwan, Independent Non-Executive
Director, was appointed Chairman of the Audit Committee.
Mr. Hung is a qualified accountant with extensive experience
in financial reporting and controls. Other members include all
other Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Guan
Huanfei, and Mr. Ma Lishan. The Audit Committee is responsible
for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal for the external auditors and has the
authority to raise questions regarding the resignation or dismissal
of the auditor and review of the Group's financial information
and oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system, internal
control procedures and risk management frameworks. It is also
responsible for reviewing the interim and final results of the Group
prior to recommending them to the Board for approval. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the confirmation given by Mr. Liang
and Yinji Investments of their compliance with the deed of non-

competition undertaking as disclosed in the Prospectus.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the financial year
ended 31 March 2009. At the meetings, it reviewed the connected
transactions, the interim results for the six months ended 30
September 2008 and last year's final results for the year ended
31 March 2008, and has reviewed with the senior management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed the auditing, internal controls, financial reporting
matters of the Group. The final results for the year ended 31 March
2009 were reviewed by the Audit Committee in its meeting held
on 17 July 2009.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in June 2008
with written terms of reference. Mr. Liang is the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. Other members of the Remuneration
Committee include Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny, Mr. Hung Sui
Kwan, Mr. Guan Huanfei and Mr. Ma Lishan. The Remuneration
Committee is responsible for reviewing and determining the
compensation and benefits of the Directors and senior management
of the Company.

In determining emolument payable to the Directors, the
Remuneration Committee would consider factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, the commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based

remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the financial
year 2009 to review the remuneration packages paid to Directors
for the financial year.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated the responsibility for enhancing our
corporate governance of the Group to a Compliance Committee
which was established in June 2008 in order to improve the
effectiveness of our Group’s internal control. Members of the
Compliance Committee comprise one Executive Director, namely
Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny and all of the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors. Mr. Hung Sui Kwan is the Chairman
of this committee. The findings or reports from the Compliance
Committee will be sent to the internal audit department of
the Company for further follow up and implementation on the
recommendations.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining good and
effective internal controls of the Group. During the financial year,
the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group's system of internal control, covering financial, operational,
compliance control and risk management functions through a
third party consultant firm. The Group's system of internal control
includes the setting up of a management structure with limits
of authority, and is designed to help the Group achieve its
business objectives, protects its assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use
or for publication, and ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, and
to manage rather than eliminate all risks of failure in the Group'’s
operational systems and in the achievement of the Group’s
business objectives. After reviewing the Group's internal control
system, the Board considers that the internal control system is
effective and adequate for the Group as a whole. The Board
further considers that (i) there was no material issue relating to the
internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions, of the Group; and (ii)
that there were adequate staff with appropriate qualifications
and experience, resources for accounting and financial reporting
function, and adequate training programmes have been provided
during the financial year 2009.

The internal audit department of the Company which led by our
CFO & Executive Director, namely Mr. Chung Wai Man plays a
major role in monitoring the internal controls of the Group and
reports directly to the Audit Committee. It has full access to review
all aspects of the Group’s activities and internal controls. All types
of audited reports are circulated to the Audit Committee and key
management which will follow up the corrective actions to the
recommendations by the internal audit department.
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The Board, supported by the CFO and the internal audit
department, is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Company and the Group. In preparation of the
financial statements, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
have been adopted and the appropriate accounting policies and
statutory requirements have been consistently complied with.
The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment of
the Group's performance in the annual and interim reports to the
shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure and announcement

in a timely manner.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
accounts of each financial period, which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow
for that period. In preparing the accounts for the financial year
2009, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies
and have applied them consistently, adopted appropriate Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting
Standards which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to
the financial statements, made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on the

going concern basis.

The Auditor of the Group acknowledge their reporting
responsibilities in the Auditors’ Report on the financial statements
for the financial year 2009 as set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report on pages 50 to 51.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the financial year 2009, the fees paid/payable to the
auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by

the auditors to the Group were as follows:

Amount %58
(HK$'000 &%+ 1)

Audit services #ZBRTS

Reporting accountants in relation to the Listing 8 T8 B8 AR 560 AR TS

Non-audit services IERZE RS

RESEZRRAERRE, _ZTNFFR

1,500.0
5,680.0
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company is adopting the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Following a specific
enquiry, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code since the Listing of the Company on 8th April
2009.

The Company has been confirmed by Mr. Liang and Yinji
Investments that (i) each of them has complied with the undertaking
contained in the deed of non-competition undertaking dated 25
March 2009 executed by them in favour of the Group; (i) each of
them and/or their respective associates is not offered or becomes
aware of any new project or business opportunity directly or
indirectly to engage or becomes interested in any business carried
on by any member of the Group from time to time or in which any
member of the Group is engaged or has invested or is otherwise
involved in since, the Listing of the Company on 8 April 2009.

INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of transparency
in communication with shareholders and investors in general. The
various channels via which the Company communicates with its
shareholders include interim and annual reports, information on
the Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s website, and general

meetings.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s general
meetings where the Chairman and the Executive Directors of the
Board are available to answer questions. Separate resolutions are
proposed at the general meetings on each substantially separate
issue. The financial and other information relating to the Group
is disclosed on the Company’'s website, http://www.silverbase.

com.cn.
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To the shareholders of Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Silver Base Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “"Group”) set out on pages 52 to 120, which
comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at
31 March 2009, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting

estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
RVR A IS A=

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
March 2009 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
17 July 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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Year ended 31 March 2009 #Z ZZZNF=A=+1—HILFE

2009 2008
Notes P&t HK$'000 F# HK$'000 T/87T
REVENUE Ytz 5 1,252,210 1,485,054
Cost of sales $HEM A (625,108) (925,889)
Gross profit E7 627,102 559,165
Other income and gains E AU A K& Uk zs 5 3,356 42,286
Selling and distribution expenses $§%& &AL 4 & A (74,314) (70,782)
Administrative expenses 1T & (54,663) (46,085)
Other income/(expenses) E KA (&) 944 (3,510)
Finance costs @& X7 7 = (635)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX Bx#i A0 FI5H 6 502,425 480,439
Tax FiIH 10 (87,303) (90,995)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR % EF;¥ 415,122 389,444
Attributable to: A NS IHEGE S
Equity holders of the parent BF R A= FFH A 11 415,122 399,724
Minority interests SR R iz = (10,280)
415,122 389,444
DIVIDENDS &5 12
Interim A Hf 310,000 -
Proposed final % A< Hf - 350,000
310,000 350,000
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
BAREERRREARLERETR 13
Basic (HK cents) & (1) 46.12 44.41

REEEZERARAR, —ETNFFR



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

A BEA

31 March 2009 ==ZZ I F=A=+—H

2009

Notes izt HK$'000 T#& Tt

B &R

2008
HK$'000 77T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS R8I &EE

Property, plant and equipment #1% « &&ZE K& 14 3,900 3,265
Investment property & & #)% 15 7,966 8,175
Intangible asset & & = 16 8,300 8,300
Total non-current assets FER B & = 4258 20,166 19,740
CURRENT ASSETS RE&EE
Inventories 78 18 189,520 172,153
Trade receivables JEWE 5 18 19 25,950 18,005
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

TENFUE « e M EMEWRFRIE 20 91,848 103,048
Due from a controlling shareholder fEHIZE A% 1% 3R 5018 27 = 12,719
Pledged deposits B #H1F% 21 - 123,118
Cash and cash equivalents & KRR & EEY 21 85,844 351,509
Total current assets ji2) & E 4258 393,162 780,552
CURRENT LIABILITIES HE& &
Trade and bills payables [Ef& 5518 k& 22 1,854 43,942
Other payables and accruals Eth & (< 501E R G B (& 23 53,318 139,298
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5T B iR1T{EE 24 53,165 34,632
Tax payable EfIT{IE 48,772 74,743
Total current liabilities 2 & {42 %8 157,109 292,615
NET CURRENT ASSETS HiE&EFE 236,053 487,937
Net assets & & )FA 256,219 507,677
EQUITY #Ex=
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

BAREREE AEGERS
Issued capital BE&1TARA 25 380 10,010
Reserves f#f# 26 255,839 147,667
Proposed final dividend 3 RHAR S 12 - 350,000
Total equity #4258 256,219 507,677

BEX
Chung Wai Man
EZE

Director

Chen Sing Hung Johnny

PR 8
EFE

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HRREDE

Year ended 31 March 2009 #Z ZZEZEANF=F=+1—HIF/Z

Attributable to equity holders of the parent &2 A& A AR

Exchange Proposed
Issued fluctuation final Minority
capital Capital Reserve reserve Retained dividend interests Total
Notes BEfT reserve fund HE profits B Subtotal | equity

i1 k% EXRk g2 R RENE RERE it REER RRAT
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR

(note 26(a)())  (note 26(al(ii)

(Ftasa))  (HizE26(a)i)

At 1 Aprl 2007 K= EMA-A 10,006 - 2,807 1337 86,593 - 100,743 - 100,743
Exchange realignment EX 5% - - - 7206 - - 7,206 - 7,206

Total income and expense recognised directly in equity

ERNERRIORARERAR - - - 7,206 - - 7,206 - 7,206
Profitfor the year = = - - 399,724 - 399,724 (10,280) 389,444
Total income and expense for the year AN RER LR - - - 7,206 399,724 - 406,930 (10,280) 396,650
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BAZEERHNES - = 3560 = (3,560) 5 o 5 o
Proposed final 2008 dividend B =S5 N FRHRE 12 - - - - (350,000] 350,000 - - -
Losses borne by minority sharefolders of a subsidiary

B-ZHELT BRRAENER - - - - - - - 10,280 10,280
Acquisition of minority interests J{E& ) /R 4 = = s = s 4 = 4

At 31 March 2008 and at 1 April 2008
RZFENE=A=T-RR=E3/\ENA-H 10,010 - 6,367 8,943 132,757 350,000 507,677 - 507,677
Exchange realignment Ej% 5% - - - 3430 - - 3430 - 3430

Total income and expense recognised directly in equity
HENVESRANRAREREE = - = 3430 = = 3430 = 3430
Profit for the year £ - - - - 415,122 - 415,122 - 415,122

Total income and expense for the year

ERMARERAE - - - 3430 415,122 - 418,552 - 418,552
Acquisition of a subsidiary E—FHEAF (10010 = = = = = (10010 = (10010
Transfer o statutory surplus reserve EEZZERAARS = = 9,767 = (0.767) - - - -
Final 2008 dividend declared and paid EERER-EEN\F

RERE - - - - - (350,000) (350,000 - (350,000)
Issue of shares E/7k {7 2 380 (380) = = o 5 o o -
Interim 2009 dividend ZZ N ERERE 12 - - - - (310,000 - (310,000 - (310,000)
At 31 March 2009 A=SENE=A=1-A 380 (380 16,134% 11,9734 28,112 - 256,219 - 256,219
* ZEREREREAHEERBBRANAHESE * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$255,839,000

255,839,000/ 7T (= Z = )\ & : 147,667,000/ (2008: HK$147,667,000) in the consolidated balance sheet.
TT) e
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEI\/IENT

/_\
=

ﬁ/)lb%b?%

Year ended 31 March 2009 &% —EZhF= =1 —HIFF/ZE

2009
Notes Mfizf HK$'000 F#& Tt

2008
HK$'000 T+ 7T

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BETDNRERE

Profit before tax B %: Al | H 502,425 480,439
Adjustments for: & A TZIAFTIER)FHE -
Finance costs @& XA 7 - 635
Interest income F 28U A 5 (800) (2,178)
Gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment HEYE - BFE LR iwEE B 5 - (32,165)
Depreciation #7& 6 1,760 1,566
Reversal of impairment loss on an investment property
BRI E Y ERRERER 6 - (84)
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories
to net realisable value s~ (BEEIHE) TE=
m] B IR H{E o) (2,422) 525
500,963 448,738
Increase in inventories 17 &1 i1 (14,945) (38,670)
Increase in trade receivables B E ZFIHIE N (7,945) (3,268)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables TR FKIE « & & K& H A fEI
RIE (), E 11,200 (83,993)
(Increase)/decrease in an amount due from
a controlling shareholder FEUSIZEARAR R /I8 (30) Rk 2,709 (41,252)
Decrease in trade and bills payables B & 5 518 & R E R (42,088) (12,708)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals HE At
FIEREEEEM,CR) (51,575) 44,709
Cash generated from operations & ¥ fTE£ R & 398,319 313,556
Interest paid B 42 — (635)
Interest received & UYWHI & 800 2,178
Hong Kong profits tax paid 2 & &R 1FH (91,571) (28,528)
PRC tax paid B 17 B8 (21,703) (5,480)
Net cash inflow from operating activities
LEDBNREIRAFRR 285,845 281,091
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

= ﬁfﬁimb@]%

Year ended 31 March 2009 #Z ZZZNF=A=+1—HILFE

2009
Notes Mfizf HK$'000 F#& Tt

2008

HK$'000 T 7T

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
RATBHNRSAE

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment

BEWHE  BERZE (2,132) (395)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment &Y%  FFE K& HEE B 8PS I8 = 53,466
Additions to an intangible asset &7 & E L N = (8,300)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged time deposits & # 1 & &

FRORL (&) 123,118 (123,118)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

WEERHNRSARA S ORH) B85 120,986 (78,347)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

REEHNESRE
Increase in trust receipt loans {5sE IR E K N 18,533 3,475
Repayment of bank loans E&#RTEE = (12,232)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to former minority

shareholders of a subsidiary fEf —Z M8 2 &) 51 D SRR

g, CRd) (34,405) 27,277
Dividends paid 2T & (660,000) =
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

METBMESTEA (RL) F8E (675,872) 18,520
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS R&RREZEYEM (HL) B8 (269,041) 221,264
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#13 ® &

ReFEY 351,509 123,209
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

EXZEHTE (FFH) 3,376 7,036
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

FRAEGRASEEY 85,844 351,509
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS RERBREZENE R DM
Cash and bank balances & M iRTT 4584 21 85,844 351,509

REEEZERARAR, —ETZNFFH



ALANCE SHEET

NRIEEAE

31 March 2009 —2

2009 2008
Notes ffizf HK$'000 F#&t HK$'000 F/ET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ¥RENEE

Interests in subsidiaries FAH B A A Az 17 228,388 =
Net assets & & )FE 228,388 =
EQUITY %=
Issued capital B #1THRZAR 25 380 -
Reserves fi#{# 26 228,008 =
Total equity & 4250 228,388 -

SEEX FR L 8

Chung Wai Man Chen Sing Hung Johnny
EE EF
Director Director
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NAERREA

RRARIRZZEZEELFNLATBER
EHREIMKLAXREBR AR -
N QN &) 0 9% == & A2 R Codan Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited#J i#f &
= ik A Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° AR A &£
BEENEELEMEBUREREFET
FTiE 2005 F IR S B AR 02718 o

REBARRBABRONEERERZHMA
Rod ([BRA]) ERLET - ARQF
FR—FRINEBEARERF (B4 &
ARABIREMBAR (TAEE]) B9
BEEL IR _TTENFALA-+RK
B RAREENZERAR - BRAEE
BHNARAR_ZETNAF=A=+H
TENBERER ((HRER]D - AR
ARk E B —TFNFMA/NBEER
RFrEm (ML) e

AEBEETEZXRBAKHABRBERS
HtBEERNRTEETE - MBARS
TEXBFHITRNMBHRRME7

EEZRR AEENRRERA
ARNRBEXBESEMMA LD
Yinji Investments Limited ([Yinji

Investments]) ©

RESEZRRAERRE, ST NFFR

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND
REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 12 September
2007. The registered office of the Company is located at the
office of Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong is located at 27th Floor, The
Sun’s Group Centre, 200 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

Through a series of group reorganisation procedures (the
“Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) in preparation for the listing
of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
the Company became the holding company of the Group
on 26 September 2008. Details of the Reorganisation were
set out in the prospectus issued by the Company dated 30
March 2009 (the “Prospectus”). The Company’s shares have
been listed on the Stock Exchange since 8 April 2009 (the
“Listing”).

The Group is principally engaged in the distribution of
Wouliangye (i#8/&) Liquor Series, other liquor products and
Chinese cigarettes. The details of the principal activities
of the subsidiaries as set out in note 17 to the financial

statements.

In the opinion of the Directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Yinji Investments Limited (“Yinji
Investments”), which is incorporated in the British Virgin

Islands.



21 EBRREREE

BHREASRZARZEHHAF - B
SERERFESEALIZU AR -
- AHMBHRRCERBEEGHAED
N ([EESMAR]) RANEET
ol ESHRAREAHNA &5
BN EHESRAGR  BHE
AER_ZTLFIOA—BEK - RIE
EREE - NRBBARER AT 2 WA K
FEA (M WREH BB RHE)
REKBERRMZERAF

AP BHRIBRBEB LS DGRM
MEBMBREER ([BEMBRE
ZR ) (ERBEMEREMEREE
Al - EA G EA ([FEGHERD
Lz BEAREFRAIRFBER
RPN B R ERE - AU BEHRKRTD
RIBIE L XA LR EL ©

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R < P

31 March 2009 ==ZZ I F=A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND

PREPARATION

As a result of the Reorganisation which involved companies
under common control, the Group is regarded and accounted
for as a continuing group. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the principles of merger accounting as set out in
Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") as if the
Reorganisation had been completed as at 1 April 2007. On
this basis, the Company has been treated as the holding
company of its subsidiaries for the financial years presented
rather than from the date of acquisition of the subsidiaries.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They

have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR ot
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

2.2 ME REETERMBRE
ERNTE
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The Group has adopted the following new interpretations
and amendments to HKFRSs for the first time for the current

year's financial statements.

HKAS 39 and Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial
HKFRS 7 Instruments: Recognition and
Amendments Measurement and HKFRS 7

Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Reclassification of
Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 - Group and Treasury

Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

Interaction

The Group has also early adopted the following new
amendments:

HKFRS 1 and Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time

HKAS 27 Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS
27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements — Cost of
an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate

Amendments

The adoption and the early adoption of these new
interpretations and amendments have had no financial effect
on these financial statements and there have been no
significant changes to the accounting policies applied in
these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RaR et

31 March 2009 ==ZZ I F=A=+—H

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, which have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of HKFRSs?

HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment — Vesting

Conditions and Cancellations’

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7 Amendments

Business Combinations?

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Financial Instruments:

BRRBREER  HGARBEENF

F15% (EERT) HEER)?

BAMBREER  BEABMBREER

F2REFIA F2R RO —
FBIFEREH ]
BRI

BRABBREER  EFAH

F3% (EEr])

BAMBREER  BEMBREER

FTREFIA FIR/EMTA -
RE BT

BRAMBREER  LESE

F85%

BRGERNE IR HBEHXHZ

(&EET)

BRGITERE23N AL

(&EET)

BRGIEMNER AHRBUAFHL

BB E3257
REBSEL
F1RIERTAR

B ERIEI2HR
[2@TA 25/
REBGHEAF
W B HEZS —
TaEzBTARE
BELZEF/N
CHEN

BRGERFIHR
CHES

BRGTRAFINR
[E£@TA : BAR
GTE—R B
EE | R A2

Disclosures!

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments’

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements’

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs'

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements?

HKAS 32 and Amendments to HKAS 32
HKAS 1 Financial Instruments:
Amendments Presentation and HKAS 1

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations
Arising on Liquidation’

HKAS 39 Amendment ~ Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement - Eligible
Hedged Items?
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR ot

31 March 2009 —ZEZE/1F= A =4+—H

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and Amendment to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
HKAS 39 Reassessment of Embedded
Amendments Derivatives and HKAS 39

Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement
- Eligible Hedged Items®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes?

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate!

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a

Foreign Operation*

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to
Owners?

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfer of Assets from
Customers?

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has also issued
Improvements to HKFRSs* which sets out amendments
to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a view to removing
inconsistencies and clarify wording. Except for the amendment
to HKFRS 5 which is effective for the annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2009, other amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 although
there are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
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31 March 2009 ==ZZ I F=A=+—H

2.3 EAMEEKRERNE B 2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET

BRMELERNVE (F) EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

L R-ETZNF—A B Z2ERBZEE ! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
R AR

2 REZZBZNFELA B Z2ERABZFE 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
HAR A2

3 RZZEZENFLA BRI ERBZFE g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
HARR AR

& R-EZENEFE+A B Z2ERABZEE 4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008
R AR

5 REZZBZNFANA=THRZ2ERARZF g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 30 June 2009
JE HARE A2

* HWEBREREEL 2 REBTE : BEY * Improvements to HKFRSs contain amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 7,
BMmELEAFEST - FEM B IMEERET HKAS 1, HKAS 8, HKAS 10, HKAS 16, HKAS 18, HKAS 19, HKAS 20,
5 BB SEHERE1E  BELELSE HKAS 23, HKAS 27, HKAS 28, HKAS 29, HKAS 31, HKAS 34, HKAS 36,
85% - BB G REAIFE105 - BEGEER HKAS 38, HKAS 39, HKAS 40 and HKAS 41.

1655 - BEFEERF 18 BHERS
HERIF195% - BB G ERIFE205% - BB
B ERIFE235% - FE G ERIE275E
BB BT ERIFE285 - BB R ERIE29
5 BB G ERIE3NR  FE G EL
345 - FB B ERNEI6H - BB A
HRIFE385E - BB B ERIEIN - BB
B ERFAR R BB G LR FELRZ

fERTA

REER FZE5:] RRIEs] BB The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
TR A B A )04 FE FA RS B 2 B s 1T 5T the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
e BIFEBRAIL @ NEBZARERE application. So far, it has concluded that while the adoption
MBI R ELERFSE R B EDE of HKFRS 8 and HKAS 1 (Revised) may result in new or
R E15E (K(EE]) Al gL BB EH 5 amended disclosures and the adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised)
WEEFTHE - MEANET BT ERE and HKAS 27 (Revised) may result in changes in accounting
KR E3%E (KEE]) RE B2 % policies, these new and revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have
F275% (KI&E]) Al e B e st ik i a significant impact on the Group's results of operations and
B BREHE RSIE T R RS financial position.

R PAFREE AR B E LA R
BRAELEAZE -
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24 ERSHBEME 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as

to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are

stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in

which the Group and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates
the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the
duration of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets
are to be realised upon its dissolution. The profits and losses
from the joint venture's operations and any distributions
of surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in
proportion to their respective capital contributions, or in

accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is treated as a subsidiary if the Company

has unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the joint

venture.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in
the Group that gives it significant influence over the

Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

the party is an associate;

the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any

individual referred to in (a) or (d); or

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled
or significantly influenced by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or

indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e).
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24 EXREFTHERME (F) 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets and investment properties),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the income statement in the period in which

it arises.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether
there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property,
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure
has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits
expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property,
plant and equipment, and where the cost of the item can
be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated

useful lives used for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the shorter of lease

term and 50 years

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is

depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each

balance sheet date.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment property

Investment property is an interest in land and building held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such property is stated at cost including
transaction costs less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and is depreciated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of the property over its estimated
useful life of 50 years.

The carrying value of an investment property is reviewed for
impairment either annually, or whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not
be recoverable, whichever is earlier. If any such indication
exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated
recoverable amounts, the investment property is written
down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised in the income statement. An assessment is made
at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of the investment property is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that investment property, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the investment property
in prior years. A reversal of such impairment loss is credited
to the income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment property (continued)

An investment property shall be derecognised on disposal
or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of an investment property are recognised in the income

statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are tested for impairment annually either individually
or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with
an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to

finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to the income statement on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are
charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis

over the lease terms.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and
receivables, which are initially recognised and measured
at fair value. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of
its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance
sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less
any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through
the amortisation process.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a

group of financial assets is impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on
loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of
an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when

there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by
adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement,
to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not

exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment
is made when there is objective evidence (such as the
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties
of the debtor and significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor) that the Group will not be able to
collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of an
invoice. The carrying amount of the receivables is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are

derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is

derecognised where:

(@) the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired;

(b) the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them
in full without material delay to a third party under a

“pass-through” arrangement; or

(c) the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred

control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required

to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written
and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option
or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the
transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except
in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled
option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value,
where the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is
limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset

and the option exercise price.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including
interest-bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, interest-
bearing bank borrowings and other payables are initially
stated at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
The related interest expense is recognised within “finance

costs” in the income statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the

amortisation process.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is

recognised in the income statement.

Inventories

Inventories represent merchandise and packaging materials
purchased for resale and are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an

integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including

term deposits which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can

be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the balance
sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is

included in finance costs in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it relates
to items that are recognised in the same or a different period
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts

for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor

taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests
in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax

credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

] where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

* in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which

the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the

deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at

the balance sheet date.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a

legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets

against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to

the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic

benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods
sold;

rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease

terms; and

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount

of the financial asset.
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2.4 EXEFTBERME (&) 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China
participate in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organised by the local government authorities in the PRC.
These subsidiaries are required to make contributions to the
retirement benefit schemes which are based on a certain
percentage of the total salary of those employees and
have no further obligation for post-retirement benefits. The
contributions are charged to the income statement of the
Group as they become payable in accordance with the rules

of the schemes.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the income

statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the balance sheet, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and

declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded
using the functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All
differences are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was

determined.
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2.4 EXEHBERBE () 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Ik (48) Foreign currencies (continued)

=T EA ﬁ%’“ BT B B ¥ I IE B The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
e REER ZEERNEENBRE are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
iﬂ&?ﬁxﬁm/@f == ¥ /N[ S E=5 the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these
B MzEERBNERRAEFEAN entities are translated into the presentation currency of the
S ERME BT AMEERE Company at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
HEBGAEZNE LIS - REER date and their income statements are translated into Hong
INEBERF - EARZIRINER B M EE S Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
BRNELERBELBEEERAER - the year. The resulting exchange differences are included

in a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign
entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in

the income statement.

HEHRERERME @ BINLTE AT For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement,
MBS RERELRE HHNERKE the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
BETC c BN BRARIREEFEEESE Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
MEEEIRESMELZFEE N INEFEH of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
SERBME AT o subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated

into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange

rates for the year.

REEEZERARAR, —ETNFFH
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial

statements:

Impairment of assets

The Group has to exercise judgement in determining whether
an asset is impaired or the event previously causing the
asset impairment no longer exists, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset
value or such event affecting the asset value has not been in
existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset
or derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present value

used in the impairment test.
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5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainties

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year, are discussed below.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made
based on the ageing and estimated net realisable value
of inventories. The assessment of the write-down amount
requires management's estimates and judgements. Where
the actual outcome or expectation in the future is different
from the original estimate, such differences will impact the
carrying value of inventories and write-down/write-back of
inventories in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items
of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider
various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in production, or
from a change in the market demand for the product or
service output of the asset, expected usage of the asset,
expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance
of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the
asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based
on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are
used in a similar way. Additional depreciation is made if the
estimated useful lives and/or the residues values of items
of property, plant and equipment are different from the
previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are
reviewed, at each financial year end date based on changes

in circumstances.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment
formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by business
segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by
geographical segment.

The Group's operating businesses are structured and managed
separately according to the nature of their operations and
the products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s
business segments represents a strategic business unit that
offers products and services which are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of the other business
segments. Summary details of the business segments are

as follows:

(i)  the distribution of Wuliangye Liquor Series and other
liquor products (“Liquors”);

(i)  the distribution of Chinese cigarettes (“Cigarettes”);
and

(iii)  the investment in a residential apartment for its potential
rental income (“Property investment”).

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues
are attributed to the segments based on the location of the
customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based

on the location of the assets.
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4. DHEHR (E) 4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(a) ¥EBDE (a) Business segments
TRENAREERNZEE D BRE The following tables present revenue, profit and certain
EZENFR_ZFEZTNF=H asset, liability and expenditure information for the
=t+t—HIEFER W - ME Group's business segments for the years ended 31
RETFEE AERIEER - March 2009 and 2008.
Property
Year ended 31 March 2009 Liquors Cigarettes investment Eliminations Total
BE-SEAF=A=T-HLEE ] &E NERE 3 At
HK$'000 F&x HK$'000 FA&x HK$'000 FHEx HKS'000 F#&x HKS'000 THx
Segment revenue 2 :
Sales to external customers SHEZJMIE 1,182,633 69,577 = = 1,252,210
Other revenue Eftifiz - - 42 - 42
Total A3t 1,182,633 69,577 42 - 1,252,252
Segment results 7 & & 493,199 8,578 (167) - 501,610
Interest income and unallocated gains
MEMARAS Belias 815
Profit before tax R ¢RI 78 502,425
Tox BB T
Profit for the year A7} 415,122
Assets and liabilities EER B &
Segment assets 7 B A E 377,469 27,893 7,966 - 413,328
Segment liabilities A # & & 107,864 473 - - 108,337
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities
RAREAMASRAR 48,772
Total liabilities & E4% 157,109
Other segment information Hfti A HEH :
Depreciation & 1,508 43 209 - 1,760
Capital expenditure A f! 2,122 10 - - 2,132
Reversal of write-down of inventories to
net realisable value BB EFE 20 &5 F(E = (2,422) = = (2422)
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4. HEEHR (&) 4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(a) XEKDER (8) (a) Business segments (continued)
Property

Year ended 31 March 2008 Liquors Cigarettes investment Eliminations Total
BEZSZ\F=ZA=+—-ALEFE i B NERE Efiz CH

HK$'000 T/ HK$'000 Tir  HK$'000 F#r  HK$'000 T/  HK$'000 T
Segment revenue 2K :
Sales to external customers &2 E P 1,388,977 96,077 - - 1,485,054
Other revenue Eftiliz = - 42 - 42
Total &3 1,388,977 96,077 42 - 1,485,096
Segment results 2 £ 427,993 18,701 (155) = 446,539

Interest income and unallocated gains

HMEWMARAA & 34,535
Finance costs BE& KA (635)
Profit before tax B Ei & 480,439
Tax H8 (90,995)
Profit for the year R 389,444

Assets and liabilities BER A&

Segment assets 7 F & & 749,747 42,370 8,175 - 800,292
Segment liabilities A # 8 & 217,872 = = = 217,872
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities

DRARAMRAERRE 74,743
Total liabilities & &5 292,615

Other segment information 1A H&EH :

Depreciation /& 1,221 136 209 - 1,566
Capital expenditure A4 i 355 40 - - 395

Reversal of impairment loss on an investment

property BEREMENHESR = = (84) = (84)
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
MAEEZNERFE - 525 - = 525

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009 85



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M SRR ot

31 March 2009 —ZEZ/1F= A =4+—H

4. DEBEFR (8]) 4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) HEDE (b) Geographical segments
TREJINAEEHE D HEE The following tables present revenue and certain
—ERNFRIZFENF=ZA= asset and expenditure information for the Group's
T—BIEFENRRERETEE geographical segments for the years ended 31 March
R HEHR o 2009 and 2008.
Southeast Asian
Year ended 31 March 2009 Hong Kong ~ Mainland China countries Others Eliminations Total
BECEEAF=A=+-ALEE R HE REZER Aft He At

HK$'000 T#7  HKS'000 Fi#x  HKS'000 Tz  HK$'000 T#7  HK$'000 Fi#x  HK$'000 T

Segment revenue 23 :
Sales to external customers

HERINER 819,499 424,244 8,467 - - 1,252,210
Other revenue EftiE 42 - - - _ )
Total A5t 819,541 424,244 8,467 = = 1,252,252

Other segment information

EfpAeEs
Segment assets HEHEE 97,642 315,686 = = = 413,328
Capital expenditure 45 129 2,003 = = . 2,132
Southeast Asian
Year ended 31 March 2008 Hong Kong  Mainland China countries Others Eliminations Total
HEZTT)\E-A=T-ALER ) el EETE Efth 3 ait
HK$'000 T8 HK$'000 &L  HK$'000 T  HK$'000 T  HK$'000 T  HK$'000 T4
Segment revenue 2 K :
Sales to external customers
HERNIRF 820,200 660,292 4 446 116 - 1,485,054
Other revenue £tz 42 - - - - 42
Total B 820,242 660,292 4,446 116 - 1,485,096

Other segment information

Rt AHER
Segment assets 7 FEE 466,693 333,599 - - - 800,292
Capital expenditure &4 198 197 - - - 395
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the
net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns

and trade discounts.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as

follows:

2009 2008
HK$'000 F#&xt  HK$'000 Fi&7T
Revenue W%
Sale of goods SHEE Y 1,252,210 1,485,054
Other income and gains H U A K& Ui
Bank interest income $R77 % B A 800 2,178
Gross rental income #27H & WA 42 42
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment
HEWE - BE&EZEEE ks = 32,165
Foreign exchange differences, net JNEZERE * FE 2,499 7,709
Others EAth 15 192
3,356 42,286

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009

87



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AP ot

31 March 2009 —ZEZE /1 F=H=4+—H

6. BRBLAIAHE 6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
REBBOKRBAAMEE MR (GEA) The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

2009 2008
Notes MizF HK$'000 F#& T HK$'000 T 7T

Cost of inventories sold B &F &4 625,108 925,889

Depreciation #T& :
Property, plant and equipment ¥)% - B /&E &% 14 1,551 1,357
Investment property & & #)3 15 209 209
1,760 1,566

Minimum lease payments under operating leases

RipEEAENRERENRK 13,023 775
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant

and equipment HEWE - BFE RKHREHEB KR - (32,165)
Reversal of impairment loss on an investment property

B BB E MR ERE* - (84)

Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories

to net realisable value*

WORL, (B EIMOR) 17 & = A 2R FHE* (2,422) 525
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and

maintenance) arising on rental-earning

investment property /& HEE & H)1R E W3

FTEENEZ=ZEER (BREBEREE) 41 72
Auditors’ remuneration 1ZEENEN & 1,500 1,000

Employee benefit expense (including directors’
remuneration (note 8)) € E&1|& A
(BHEEEMS (M15E8)) :

Wages and salaries T& k¥ ¢ 46,418 39,100
Retirement benefit contributions R K 4& R 5k 1,900 1,216
48,318 40,316
Foreign exchange differences, net /NEZE%E + F(E (2,499) (7,709)
* B B4R & W) 3 KRB S 18 MU (488 [l * The reversal of impairment loss on an investment property and write-
B FEEAERFEE L AAFERRT down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories to net realisable value are
[EMU A (FH) ]| included in “other income/(expenses)” on the face of the consolidated

income statement.
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B & B 2< 7. FINANCE COSTS

Group A5 E
2009 2008
HK$'000 F#& 7T HK$'000 7T

Interest on bank loans wholly repayable within five years

BARAFAZRBERNBITERNE - 635
EEME 8. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION
RIRE PR 75 £ AR Bl R &8 2 Bl Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
PIE1EETHRENFAESEHE N the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
TS 3 Exchange and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:
Group & H
2009 2008

HK$'000 F# T HK$'000 F7%&7T

Fees 8% _ _

Other emoluments E B4 :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & » ZBE R EWHzS 25,280 23,587

Retirement benefit contributions RK4EFI {2k 48 48

25,328 23,635

25,328 23,635

(a) BAFHITES (a) Independent Non-Executive Directors

REENTFEIUIFATEFTNES The fees and bonus paid to independent Non-Executive

NI (ZET)N\F - £]&) - Directors during the year were as follows (2008: Nil):

Salaries,

allowances
and benefits

in kind Total
Fees #& > ERKR remuneration
ik B = [0k
HK$'000 F# 7t HK$'000 F# 3t HK$'000 FE& T
2009
Hung Sui Kwan s # - 300 300
Guan Huanfei B8 3E - 300 300
Ma Lishan F53Z 1L = 300 300
- 900 900
AREEWEEAMENSTB LI There were no other emoluments payable to the
ATEENMES (ZZEZENEFE: independent Non-Executive Directors during the year
A (2008: Nil).
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8. EEM= (&)
(b) HTEBNRFHTES

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive Directors and a Non-Executive

Director
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefit
in kind  contributions Total
Fees & R BIKER  remuneration
we REYF= ®=; < 4858
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F&T FET FET
2009
Executive Directors #{T& % :

Liang Guoxing Z[E] &0 - 20,760 12 20,772

Chen Sing Hung Johnny BREEE = 1,575 12 1,587

Chung Wai Man $E{&3X - 1,208 12 1,220

Cheung Mei Sze &3 - 537 12 549

- 24,080 48 24,128
Non-Executive Director 3Ei1TE 5 :

Wu Jie Si LB - 300 - 300
Total &&F - 24,380 48 24,428
2008
Executive Directors #{T& % :

Liang Guoxing 2 [E #10 - 20,760 12 20,772

Chen Sing Hung Johnny fRELIE - 1,364 12 1,376

Chung Wai Man 1 - 997 12 1,009

Cheung Mei Sze E% 2 - 466 12 478
Total &5 - 23,587 48 23,635
BIaE - Note:

(i) RPEELEE ([REE]) BEZT
TNF=ZA=+—RHLEFENME
BEALEINNEERY  Ae
4 #£5,760,000/8 7T (Z BT\ 4 ¢
5,760,000 7T) °

FAVEEEREXRATRETAHE
B 2Bk o

90 RESEZERAERRE, _ETNFER

(i) The remuneration of Mr. Liang Guoxing (“Mr. Liang”) for the
year ended 31 March 2009 included the housing benefit with
aggregate rentals of HK$5,760,000 (2008: HK$5,760,000) paid
by the Group.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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9. EfUBRSHFMHNES 9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
FALUZSFMHNESEEE=2 (= The five highest paid employees during the year included
TENF: ZF)EF BENMNEF three (2008: three) directors, details of whose remuneration
BENR EXHES - FRNBTWE (= are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
TEENF WP FEEEHEED the remaining two (2008: two) non-director, highest paid
Be s EmT employees for the year are as follows:

Group &5&E
2009 2008

HK$'000 F3& 7t HK$'000 T3 T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind #F& * 28 R E D= 3,261 2,010
Retirement benefit contributions R K4E {2 24 24

3,285 2,034

MeBATEHE 2 ARSI IEE The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
EZEEHEWNT : remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees fEEZ B

2009 2008
Nil to HK$1,000,000
Z B ILE 1,000,000/ 70 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
1,000,001/ 7L & 1,500,000/ 7T = 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
2,500,001 7 £3,000,0007 7T 1 =
2 2
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10. $i1E 10. TAX

FEMNGHRIREBEFARBBELNG
AHERTABZ16.5% (Z2T)\F -

17.5%) KB RAEH B - RIEWEE
FERER-_ZEN/ —Z2FAFR
MEEEER  ALERAREE—FF
NEFE=ZRA=+—"BULFEREEELN
FERTAAE o ME A1t [ 1Y R TR A
BERAKESEMHHRITHE  RIE
EHIREAN - 2B R EHFERE -

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2008: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. The lower Hong Kong profits
tax rate is effective from the year of assessment 2008/2009,
and so is applicable to the assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong for the year ended 31 March 2009. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the locations in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices
in respect thereof.

2009 2008
HK$'000 F& T HK$'000 T T
Group A& H :

Current Z&AHj - Hong Kong &/
Charge for the year FAE 72,112 69,976
Overprovision in prior years #8{f /& 58 & & (2,518) -
69,594 69,976
Current ANHf — PRC 17,709 21,019
Total tax charge for the year F AT IE & F 4258 87,303 90,995

RERRARRRENB AR AERDE
FE I8 B R TE B R 5T H A9 BR A AT A B A
PIAERERERVEAENHARR
MR - A SORTET R EERR B R 3
B BT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax using the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which
the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax
expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the
statutory tax rates to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET % THBTT %
Profit before tax B %t 51 78 502,425 480,439
Tax at the statutory income tax rate
BATEREREFBNHIEA 84,765 16.9 82,853 17.2
Income not subject to tax tHZH 7w HBIHA (488) (0.1) (5,369) (1.1)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR IR IE &) & F 4,447 0.9 12,883 2.6
Tax losses not recognised RIER AT E1E 1,097 0.2 292 0.1
Others HAth - - 336 0.1
Adjustments in respect of current tax of
previous periods B8 BRI A & HATI IR VE L A0 A & (2,518) (0.5) = =
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate
EASENERHEAENRERA 87,303 17.4 90,995 18.9

RESEZRRAERRE, ST NFFR
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12.

R AEREE ABSFE

BE_ZTHE=-A=+—ALFE"
RARBRBREEENET A BER
BFAEABGEHMNBRRENTIEA
308,800,000/ ;T (Z T T )\ F : &)
(FEE26(b)) °

R E

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2009 ==ZZ I F=A=+—H

11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the
parent for the year ended 31 March 2009 includes a profit of
HK$308,800,000 (2008: Nil) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company (note 26(b)).

. DIVIDENDS

2009 2008
HK$'000 F# 7T HK$'000 T+ 7T

Interim A7 EAf% 2 310,000 =
Proposed final 22 RHIfR B - 350,000
310,000 350,000

RZZEENFALAZFTHAHERZE
ZTAFE_AZTH EFHHMA
Yinji Investments® J& F H & &£
250,000,000/ 7t } 60,000,000/ 7t
IR R A& AR & B AR EK65.7978 7T )
15.798 7L - ZETHREENFRE
BURAT ©

pu)

HRIREBRERERAREETSERIK
ENEE_TTN\F-A=1+—ALHF
€ # >k 2 A% 2.350,000,0005% 7T (18 &
A% 3B A% 175,000,000/ 7T) R =
ETNFRA=TEESHE -

FARRB Y EZ N HE IR EFREK

B o

i

On 30 September 2008 and 20 February 2009, the
directors declared interim dividends of HK$250,000,000
and HK$60,000,000 representing HK$65.79 and HK$15.79
per ordinary share of the Company, respectively, to Yinji
Investments. The interim dividends were fully paid during
the year.

The final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of
HK$350,000,000, representing HK$175,000,000 per ordinary
share, proposed by the board of directors of Silver Base
International Development Company Limited was approved
on 30 May 2008.

No final dividend has been paid or declared by the Company
during the year.
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13. BRI EEREE AEN 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

BREF

BREABICEIRFAT AR

EmFEE ARGHNEGE - 11?*“5%’*
77 N 7] F 2 17 #9900,000,000/% & B
80.10% 7T & Bz 1 (‘& $53,800,0004%
B BTG RIBEE ML EITHE T T
#1896,200,0000% A% 1n) - ¥ 40 3% & AR
NRBEEZZZ\FR=ZZETNF=A
=+t HBIEEEAFEANDET -

MREE-EENFR-ZE\EZA
SRR EFEREEN
B R A A SRR
7 o

BRERBNITZATEEFE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent and on the assumption that
900,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each issued and issuable
comprising 3,800,000 shares in issue and 896,200,000 shares
to be issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue as if the
shares had been in issue throughout the years ended 31
March 2008 and 2009.

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 March
2009 and 2008 have not been disclosed as no diluting events

existed during these two years.

The calculations of basic earnings per share are based on:

2009 2008
HK$'000 ¥ T HK$'000 T 7T

Earnings &7

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

SRR ERERTE ARIGHNE

415,122 399,724

Number of shares R4 & H

2009 2008
‘000 F ‘000 +
Shares & fn
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year used in the basic earnings per share calculation
RN ESBRERRFN G AD ETE B INEF I 900,000 900,000

REEEZERARAR, —ETNFFR
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

REE Group
Leasehold Furniture
Land and  improve- and Office
buildings ments  fixtures equipment Motor
TR HE RIMR WAZE  vehicles Total
BT WUEKE EERE B3] "E &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET BT BT BT BT BT
31 March 2009 —2ZhF=A=+—H
At 31 March 2008 and at 1 April 2008

RZEZNF=HA=1T—HBK

RZZETZNFMHA—A :

Cost FAS - 1,185 6,205 2,191 6,865 16,446

Accumulated depreciation &M1& = (567) (6,151) (1,419) (5,044)  (13,181)

Net carrying amount & EF{E - 618 54 772 1,821 3,265
At 1 April 2008, net of accumulated

depreciation R=ZZFZN\FHA—H -

Mk Rt T EFE - 618 54 772 1,821 3,265
Additions RNE - 557 48 124 1,403 2,132
Depreciation provided during the year

FANERE - (391) (23) (255) (882)  (1,551)
Exchange realignment JE %, 38 % - 16 - 12 26 54
At 31 March 2009, net of accumulated

depreciation RZZZNF=A=+—H "

R 25 ITEFE - 800 79 653 2,368 3,900
At 31 March 2009

RZBZAF=ZA=+—8H:

Cost X7 - 1,773 6,253 2,335 8,303 18,664

Accumulated depreciation 25T - (973)  (6,174)  (1,682) (5935 (14,764)

Net carrying amount 8& EF{E = 800 79 653 2,368 3,900
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14. Y% - BERRE ()

REH ()

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Group (continued)

Leasehold Furniture
Land and improve- and Office
buildings ments  fixtures equipment Motor
TR HE BEME WAZE  vehicles Total
BF YEHE EBEEE B AE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
T T T T T T
31 March 2008 —EZN\F=H=+—H
At 1 April 2007 R=ZTZT+FMA—H :

Cost AR 25,818 1,021 6,155 1,843 6,794 41,631

Accumulated depreciation 2&THTE (4,130) (252) (6,136) (1,221) (4,534)  (16,273)

Net carrying amount BREF(E 21,688 769 19 622 2,260 25,358
At 1 April 2007, net of accumulated

depreciation R=—ZEZT+FMHA—H -

Mk 25T & HE 21,688 769 19 622 2,260 25,358
Additions N & - 64 50 281 - 395
Disposal HE (21,301) - - - - (21,301)
Depreciation provided during the year

FRITERE (387) (278) (15) (180) (497) (1,357)
Exchange realignment JE & F8 % - 63 - 49 58 170
At 31 March 2008, net of accumulated

depreciation RZZEZNF=A=+—H

kR 25T &EHE - 618 54 772 1,821 3,265
At 31 March 2008

R-ZEENF=A=+—8 :

Cost B - 1,185 6,205 2,191 6,865 16,446

Accumulated depreciation 25H#T8 - (567) (6,151) (1,419) (5,044)  (13,181)

Net carrying amount 8RB F B = 618 54 772 1,821 3,265

RESEZERAERRE, _ETNFER
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175 ok B et

31 March 2009 ==ZZ I F=A=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2009
HK$'000 F# T

2008
HK$'000 T3 7T

Carrying amount at 1 April AP0 A — B #EREE 8,175 8,300
Depreciation provided during the year FFNiTE#& & (209) (209)
Reversal of impairment loss % Bl E & & - 84
Carrying amount at 31 March ®= A =+—HMKRAE 7,966 8,175
Fair value at 31 March ®=HA=+—H®AF(EE 9,890 10,190

AEENOREMEMRNEL - TRER
HIHERA -

AEENRENER_TTNF=A=
T— BB EEE B ERD S
HrEENEERERATIRARMISE
B ASsEES A EE 79,890,000/
T (ZZZ )\F 10,190,000 7T) °
ZEREMECRBELEEHELATE
=7 EFBEHES R AR SRR T
30(a) °

R-ZZEZNFE=ZA=+—H8 £5H
8 187,966,000 L (Z T T )\ F:
8,175,000 7t) ML EME B ERK
o VERE TASE RN —MRIRITHE
(PffsE24) »

BVEE

4 ERTE LARK 758,300,000/ TEGFH &
e -

The Group's investment property is held under a long term

lease and situated in Hong Kong.

The Group's investment property was revalued on 31 March
2009 by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited, independent
professionally qualified valuers, at HK$9,890,000 (2008:
HK$10,190,000) on an open market, existing use basis. The
investment property is leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note

30(a) to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s investment property with a
value of HK$7,966,000 (2008: HK$8,175,000) was pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 24).

16. INTANGIBLE ASSET

The balance represents a club membership which was
acquired at a cost of HK$8,300,000.
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17. REB AT HNRER

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company &2 7]

2009 2008

HK$'000 F#mx  HK$'000 T4

Unlisted shares, at cost 3F Ff%(H - LK ANE 229,588 =
Amount due to a subsidiary E{THIE A BFI8 (1,200) =
228,388 -

ENMBARFERERR 2 RE

ElEEEHR -

RZZZNEFE=A=+—8 F2WE

and has no fixed terms of repayment.

The amount due to the subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2009

NRIFBWT are as follows:
Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary  attributable to the
registration and  share/registered Company
operations paid-up capital ARG
oAV BERTEER REBDL
AR EE E2affME  Direct Indirect Principal activities
Name %7 1 B EXHEE B Mg FEXR
Richmind International Limited British Virgin US$13= 100 - Investment holding
= RERARDA Islands REZER
RERUMRE
Silver Base International Hong Kong HK$27% 7T - 100 International
Development Co. Limited R distribution of
REHARZRERAA liquor and
cigarette products
PRI AR 45 3 2
Silver Base Tobacco Co., Hong Kong HK$10,000,000/% 7T - 100  Distribution of
Limited SREEEFRAF] B cigarettes
Silver Base Trading Development People’s US$2,200,000% 7T, = 100  Distribution of liquor
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd Republic of and products in
("Silver Base Trading China the PRC market
(Shenzhen)”) ("PRC") R B 54
REZHER ORI BRAA* REARAM HEm

(TREES ORI

B ([RE))

RESEZERAERRE, _ETNFER
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Place of

incorporation/

B 715 R 2K Pl e

31 March 2009 —=ZEZhF=H=+—H

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Nominal value of Percentage of equity

issued ordinary  attributable to the

registration and  share/registered Company
operations paid-up capital NGNS
ML, ERTEER REBD L
AR EE 22  Direct Indirect Principal activities
Name %78 1 2 EXEE Ei BiE FEEHR
Silver Base Wine & Spirit Hong Kong HK$10,0007% 7T - 100  Distribution of
Limited SREFEFRA A BB Dimple Scotch
Whisky
REANEHEW
BT =
Silver Base Wine & Spirit PRC # & HK$20,000,000/% 7T = 100  Distribution of

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
("Silver Base Spirit
(Shenzhen)”)

REFB ORI BRA A
(MREFB ORI

REFBEEEMOIIEBEDRE -

4

Dimple Scotch
Whisky
REHNEERIR
BEIR

* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law.

18. INVENTORIES

18. 78
Group &"&E
2009 2008
HK$'000 F#mx  HK$'000 T4
Merchandise & 168,459 167,862
Packaging materials B2 #1%} 21,061 4,291
189,520 172,153
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AP ot

31 March 2009 —ZEZE /1 F=H=4+—H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group A5 HE
2009 2008
HK$'000 F#&T HK$'000 T+ 7T

Trade receivables EUE 5 718 25,950 18,820
Impairment & & - (815)
25,950 18,005

AEE—RATFPREETZRI0AMNE
B8 - ANEBIERERERE N EKGRIR
REFBRIBIES - SREEESEHEHN
BEIERR o 0 LI ERIA R AE B/
FBUEZFREL B ANRBRNNEFA
B MUY EEBAEFEERR - B
BHRIBNEHE »

REERNEKE ZFRRREZAHR
R BB RE DA ¢

The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than
90 days to its customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade

receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the balance
sheet date, based on the invoice date and net of provision,

is as follows:

Group K& H
2009 2008
HK$'000 Fi& T HK$'000 T 7T

Within 2 months F{E B A 23,730 12,993
2 to 6 months —Z& /5@ A 1,924 5,012
6 months to 1 year NEBZE—F 61 -
Over 1 year —4FLA L 235 =

25,950 18,005

RESEZERAERRE, _ETNFER
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19. EIRE Z™IE (&) 19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
JEWE SRIBRREREEE T The movements in provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

Group &5 HE
2009 2008
HK$'000 Fi& T HK$'000 T 7T

At 1 April RIUA—H 815 815
Amount written off as uncollectible i %8 X Uk [6] 49 78 (815) -
- 815
NEEZ=ZZEZENF=A=+—HH Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
FBUREFKRBEREREGENREES receivables as at 31 March 2008 was a provision for
815,000/ 7T @ B1E A& {E Bl & U 2 5 3 individually impaired trade receivables of HK$815,000 with
TH 1 H1815,00078 ST A B - 2 & (@ Bl a carrying amount of HK$815,000. The individually impaired
HIRRMER RN E 5 5IE P R —# (T trade receivables related to a batch of cigarettes, which were
FPREBHNEE - XAEBWERZ expired when delivered to a customer. The Group did not
EERF/HEMERRIEMEESRS hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
HiE o £ ZRERBLER/RBEKD balances. The balances have been written off as uncollectible
TRIE T UAMES o during the year.
WARERBERENEYE 5 FIRN R The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not
AT : considered to be impaired is as follows:

Group A5 E
2009 2008
HK$'000 &t HK$'000 T 7T

Neither past due nor impaired 7K@ 8 & KR (E 25,528 14,793
Less than 60 days past due B iEHI D H60H 187 3,212
Over 60 days past due B iBHI#E:E60H 235 -
25,950 18,005
R 3B BB K SRR (B A FE MR I B — L 4 aT Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
B REENAETRESERA - to a large number of diversified customers for whom there

was no recent history of default.
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19.

20.

EWE 5 IR ()

2 3B HAE 3 KRB B 8 W R TR B — e
AEBBERFHECENBIEFA
M- RIBEEMNKR  ARRESASB
BAABERIELBERE  BAX
BEAEEERZHUANRAT 2HK
O % FaE ek o NEBY % F AR R
BEEAERRREMEEREREE

ANFRIE - RERHEMER

IR

20.

. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision
for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements

over these balances.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Group A5 HE
2009
HK$'000 F#& T

2008
HK$'000 Tt

Prepayments to suppliers T8 1< £ & p 518 39,174 80,703
Value-added tax recoverable fE:RIZ(EF] 23,827 13,917
Advances to staff [{& 8 2 25K 837 485
Rental and utility deposits HE &K « & « EREE 2,400 1,626

Prepayment related to the listing of the Company’s shares
BN EIRG EmeyER I 19,284 3,441
Others £ A 6,326 2,876
91,848 103,048

A LEEREEISORE ° A DGR
BIEH) & BRE B BT B G R RO SR
FEYKIBRRE -

HERK: B ERIZSEETFHRIE
H(£B) BRAR (—KBARLELEE
FlE AR W E%R$1,438,000% T
— T )\ 4 : 1,438,000 7T) (Bt 5F
32(c)(ii)) ° AL REEIR - TEFELA
N BRTLEARR B m (B o

RESEZRRAERRE, ST NFFR

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default.

Included in the rental and utility deposits is a rental deposit
of HK$1,438,000 (2008: HK$1,438,000), placed with Silver
Base (Holdings) Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Liang
(note 32(c)(ii)). The balance is unsecured, non-interest-bearing

and is repayable at the end of the lease term.
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21.

B 715 R 2K Pl e

31 March 2009 ==ZZ I F=A=+—H

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

Group &5 E

2009 2008

Note FfffzE HK$'000 F#x  HK$'000 T

Cash and bank balances & MIR1T45 64 85,844 474,627
Less: Pledged deposits for trust receipt loans

B SRR E SR R AF R 24(a) = (123,118)

Cash and cash equivalents I & kIR &EEY) 85,844 351,509

REER AEBUARBIIENSR
KR1T 488 547,774,000 L (Z2F
J\E 116,284,000 7T) © A RE T
AEBALBAEMER - A BRI
CHRBISNEBERIER) REE - BER
NEBEHRTE)  ANEEREERARR
RERITIE AR K i RINE LUETTINE
7% o RITH SRS HRITEEFN XN
7B EEBREH S o

EREZRERRERE

REERZREREHNENEZKER
REORESTAT

22.

At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
HK$47,774,000 (2008: HK$116,284,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised
to conduct foreign exchange business. Cash at banks earns

interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as

follows:

Group A5 HE
2009 2008
HK$'000 F#& Tt HK$'000 Fi&7T
Within 1 month —f# A A 1,056 43,881
1 to 3 months —& =1 A - 61
Over 3 months =1& B A £ 798 =
1,854 43,942

ENESHARZERER/RE R —MRIA90
ARREE -

The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled on 90-day terms.
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23. EteENREARETRE

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group & E
2009 2008
HK$'000 T T HK$'000 T 7T

Deposits received from customers [A& P Y EH) R & 32,661 69,517
Value-added tax and other taxes payable 5Bt & H fth &~ F{ 18 5,075 12,185
Sales rebate JEfTSH%E EIH 7,541 10,427
Accruals EEt B & 7,434 9,700
Provision for penalties 5l Z &1 567 3,064

Amount payable to former minority shareholders of a subsidiary
J& A — ZX P B 1 R AT D B AR R0 - 34,405
Others Hfth 40 -
53,318 139,298

24. stEBRITEE

24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

2009 2008
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
BRRAI= Maturity HK$'000 BERN X Maturity HK$'000
Group &5 H (%) |8 A THET (%) FEE AT
Current B8
Trust receipt loans
EREBIEER
- secured B3R 0.75 2009 53,165 0.75 2008 34,632

104 BEEEERER AT —EETNEER



24. FHERITEE (&)

25.

Wik

(@) RZTTAF=A=+—80 ' A&£ERFH
K ER17 B & B AN = B BREDF B /37,966,000
BT (BIEE15) R EMEEER - WAHR
FEBETBEAER - REEFMREMHER
ERR - WARABARZZTZTAFEOAN
B &R EEO AR BERDRK o

RZBZEN\E=A=+—0 A£EEH
RUERTT AL & F AN 5 (B AR ¥ (E /48,175,000
Bt (ffaE15) B E W% - 123,118,000
BTt (KTE21) MRITIFERIEER - AR
AR AAER -
b) RZ-ZEE = " AETTIIE
B 1= FEUR J’mé 60E0RMEEHANA
2L REEHRRINGFERI% (ZZT)N
F :3.5%) MHEEBEFERFE - FRFA
BB ETHREERRNEIEE -

LN
AEER-TTN\FZA=+—HOR
A - REEWBATNERTA T
B o

%;é

<

AEER _TTNF=A=1+—HHK
A REARFANEBETRARKAE -

Shares &7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24.

25.

B 715 R 2K Pl e

31 March 2009 ==ZZ I F=A=+—H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 March 2009, the Group's banking facilities were secured by the
Group's investment property with a net book value of HK$7,966,000
(note 15) and personal guarantee executed by Mr. Liang. The guarantee
provided by Mr. Liang was released and replaced by a corporate
guarantee provided by the Company upon the Listing on 8 April
2009.

At 31 March 2008, the Group's banking facilities were secured by the
Group's investment property with a net book value of HK$8,175,000
(note 15), bank deposits of HK$123,118,000 (note 21) and personal

guarantee executed by Mr. Liang.

The trust receipt loans as at 31 March 2009, were denominated in
United States dollars, were interest-free within a credit period of 60 to
90 days and bore interest at 1% (2008: 3.5%) plus the Prime Rate per
annum after the credit period. All trust receipt loans were fully settled

within the credit period during the year.

SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital of the Group as at 31 March 2008
represented the issued combined paid-in capital of the

subsidiaries.

The share capital of the Group as at 31 March 2009 represents

the issued and fully paid share capital of the Company.

2009
HK$'000 F % T

2008
HK$'000 T 7T

Authorised JAJE :

100,000,000,000 (2008: 3,800,000) ordinary shares of

HK$0.10 each

100,000,000,000/% (=ZZ/\F : 3,800,000/%) FAREE

0.10/8 oAy B % 10,000,000 380
Issued and fully paid B Z1TREVE :
3,800,000 (2008: 1) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
3,800,000/ (ZZZN\F : 108) GRE(E0.10/8 A & AR 380 —
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31 March 2009 —ZEZE /1 F=H=4+—H

25. A (&)

BE_ZETZN\ER-_ZTNE=A=+
—HIEFE  RAZEHBERMOE

(@) ARER=ZFZTLFNA+=H
EFRESHEFMAN  EAERAN
7%380,0007% 7T * % 43,800,000
B & A% T {E0.107% JT B i% 15
— R AR 7 B 17 R B % TYinji

Investments °

by R=ZZTEZENFA~AAZ+=B'X
A Al HA TE AR 2N #3380,00074 7T 15
H0 Z£10,000,000,00078 It * 9 &
100,000,000,0000% & f% E{E0.10
PEITTHRR G °

© RZETENFAAZ+XRB XK
AaEIPREHAFFMAYinji Investments
BT RALEE3,799,999R B R EE
010 T 7 - 2 & ARRSIE

BT o
26. &
(a) K&EHE

A EEAEE R R
SEREBHE RN A
FECABMAGREEDE -

(i) AKRENEXRFEEREART
EHTROEEEREHER
FIT W 58 B0 B 1B 1% B O RO A 48
BERERE

25.

26.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2009, the

movements in share capital were as follows:

(@) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 12 September 2007, with an authorised share
capital of HK$380,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares
of HK$0.10 each, with one share issued and allotted to

Yinji Investments.

(b) On 23 June 2008, the authorised share capital of
the Company was increased from HK$380,000 to
HK$10,000,000,000 divided into 100,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.10 each.

() On 26 September 2008, the Company issued and
allotted 3,799,999 shares of HK$0.10 each, all
credited as fully paid to Yinji Investments upon the

Reorganisation.

RESERVES
(@) Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on

page 54 of the financial statements.

() The Group's capital reserve represents the
difference between the nominal value of the
shares issued by the Company and the aggregate
of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired

upon the Reorganisation.

106 REEBEZERERRAA  ZZEZNFER



26. fitite (&)

(a)

(b)

REHE (8)

(i) WEFBERRE > ARARN
B R A A BB R R 48R
#510% 5 A E BRI IR FIH
(B BEFENERE
Big) BREZEAERHBARE
T ERBESERZEIE
A RE T B A BY50%8 - R
N A AR AR AT RSN
AR RBATES A AIE
HIHBEFRAE RN
BN o A EAEBRBRITE
ERELRARE  BHRY
ARFRTLREMERE
25% °

ZANYNG|

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
175 ok B et

31 March 2009 ==ZZ I F=A=+—H

26. RESERVES (continued)
(@) Group (continued)

(i) In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the
Company's subsidiaries registered in the PRC
are required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory profit after tax (after offsetting any prior
years' losses) to the statutory surplus reserve.
When the balance of the reserve fund reaches
50% of the entity’s registered capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus
reserve can be utilised to offset prior years' losses
or to increase capital. However, the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a
minimum of 25% of registered capital after such
usages.

(b) Company

Capital Accumulated

reserve losses Total
BERFEE 2T EiE i
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B THET FE T THET
At 31 March 2008 and
at 1 April 2008
RZZBEENF=ZA=+—HK
RZFEENFMAH—H - - -
Reorganisation E7H i 229,208 = 229,208
Profit for the year F A7} - 308,800 308,800
Interim 2009 dividend
—ZETNFRERE 12 - (310,000) (310,000)
At 31 March 2009
RZZBEENF=RA=1+—H 229,208 (1,200) 228,008

(i) ARRME AR FEHERBEEAMK
FE VP B A ) AR DSB8 H PR ER
ARBFEHETROEENED °

Note:

(i) The Company’s capital reserve represents the excess of the
net book values of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
Reorganisation over the nominal value of the Company's shares

issued in exchange therefore.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009 107



108

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AP ot

31 March 2009 —ZEZE /1 F=H=4+—H

27.

28.

29.

30.

FE W 422 IR PR SR R IR

JFEE Uiz 422 S S, B 22 4 A Y TR T A A A
RETERFABHERM - BE2_F
ZHAER_ETZNF=ZA=1+—HIF
B REBRWKIBRERSEHD BB
4912,719,000/8 7T 589,667,000/ 7T °

HREE

REEH  AEBRARAHBEEME
RHREE -

EEERR

AEERAFERERBITEERIRT
B E T IRE ERNFE D BIE R A5
FRRMIFETS ~ 21824

EEMERH
(a) fEREHEA

AEERELEHELHHEHER
W REBERHEERARN T —
EMEF - HEHR —RIFE K&
HAXNERLE -

RZZBEZAF=A=+—H XK
S B R 15 B EL AR A PTR] SZ VR
A] AR 8H 2 B TH B B BB FE W e

27.

28.

29.

30.

DUE FROM A CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

The amount due from a controlling shareholder, Mr. Liang,
was unsecured, interest-free and was fully settled during the
year. The maximum receivable balances outstanding during
the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008 were approximately
HK$12,719,000 and HK$89,667,000, respectively.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the balance sheet date, neither the Group nor the

Company had any significant contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group's assets pledged for securing banking
borrowings and banking facilities during the year are
included in notes 15, 21 and 24, respectively, to the financial

statements.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(a) As lessor

The Group leases its property under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging
from one to two years. The terms of the leases generally

also require the tenants to pay security deposits.

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable

operating leases with its tenants falling due as

AREEHERBEENFFN follows:
T
Group A5 HE
2009 2008
HK$'000 F& 7t HK$'000 F/7&7T
Within one year —F A 42 =
In the second to fifth years, inclusive
F_FEFAF (BREEWTE) 2 -
44 =
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30. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

(b) As lessee

The Group leases certain of its properties and a motor
vehicle under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
properties and a motor vehicle are negotiated for terms

ranging from six months to three years.

At 31 March 2009, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

falling due as follows:

Group &5&HE
2009 2008
HK$'000 F# 7t HK$'000 T 7T

Within one year —% A 12,774 19,573

In the second to fifth years, inclusive
F_FEERF (BEEEMTE) 1,720 9,384
14,494 28,957

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2009

109



110

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AP ot

31 March 2009 —ZEZE /1 F=H=4+—H

31. &iE 31. COMMITMENTS
B £ Xt 5E30(b) BT #F 2L #) & 58 TH & K In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in
TN REBRGEERETEAEERFE note 30(b) above, the Group had the following commitments,
TEHEAZNT - principally for the purchase of inventories, at the balance
sheet date:

Group &5 HE
2009 2008
HK$'000 F%& Tt HK$'000 FE 7T

Contracted, but not provided for B&T47 + M ARVERE -

Within one year —% A 761,267 404,343
In the second to fifth years, inclusive
“HERLE (BREEMF) 1,670,972 262,551
Over five years A 4,281,197 695,885
6,713,436 1,362,779
BraEs  AEER _TENFR_- In addition to the above, the Group had commitments in
ETNF=A=+—"HBHR ETHNHEZER respect of the professional service fees for the Listing of
BB BFTEL A E 5 51 410,389,000 HK$10,389,000 and HK$6,069,000 as at 31 March 2008 and
BT K2.6,069,0005 7T © 2009, respectively.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions with related parties during the
year:

Group A5 HE
2009 2008
Notes Miz HK$'000 Fi& T HK$'000 T 7T

Continuing transactions FERX 5 :

Mr. Liang 54 -
Rental expenses & %&

(i) 753 747

Related companies beneficially-owned

by Mr. Liang R EE = A KA 7

Rental expenses paid to
Silver Base (Holdings) Limited

BN TFIRE (5E) BRAFTMNEEEH (i) 8,628 8,628

Discontinued transactions JEIFER S :

Related companies beneficially-owned

by Mr. Liang %4+ BEa A BB A 7] -

Rental expenses paid to
BENTTIARNEEER :
Silver Base (Holdings) Limited

HRE (£B) GRAFR]

(ii) - 960

Silver Base Int’l Investment Co., Limited

REBFRIREBAR QA

(iii) - 720

Related companies beneficially-owned

by directors of the subsidiaries
BB AREEEaEANEE AT
Sales of liquors B miHE
RINTHREEBSHBER AR
Purchase of liquors fE BB M
HEMREEBEARLQA
Purchase of packaging materials
BEBEMH
HEMBEEHEARAQA

(iv) - (1,479)

(v) - 873

(v) - 751
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32. BMAERE (&)

@ (&)
B 5
(i)
(i)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
mRES

BE-FT\F=A=+-ALE
EHRAERERM TR EALR

WiER - RS ARTSBEARE
50,0007C B © bb4h - ANEEE 57
HERDNERBEEE R B H KK -
=25 AEE®EAREK150007T %
HENEEER (B=ETtFNA
) c BEZTEENFHA—HE -

MERAENGAERTEEEERAE

A RE ] B AR37,000t R AR
#19,0007T °
—HBRAER—EEIBEERER

ZETAF=A=1t—ALLEFER
HMEBADBEEERE KRR -
2B AEE£%ES £719,000% T
BeB-TTN\FHA—HEL &
SEERIEREEEIBEEINAE
B4 %8 /580,000/8THER -

RBEE-_TTN\F=A=+—HI
EF MEHREBEREREEER

B IR KIZ T A & E £ %§860,000/%8
mwm ERRXBEE=-TTNF
WA —BRERKRIE -

HE TN RREBEAEERTE
REFHE AMERRIGHET -

FEABSBEERRBEMHNE
RI2RBER BN ERETE °

BERERQA =

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

T N F F |

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

The office rental expenses for the year ended 31 March 2008
were charged based on mutually agreed terms at a fixed
monthly amount of RMB50,000. In addition, the Group paid
additional rental expense for the lease of an office based on
mutually agreed terms at a fixed monthly amount of RMB15,000
starting from September 2007. Since 1 April 2008, the fixed
monthly rental expenses of the two offices have been revised
to RMB37,000 and RMB19,000, respectively.

The rental expenses of an office and a staff quarters for the year
ended 31 March 2009 were charged based on mutually agreed
terms at a fixed monthly aggregate amount of HK$719,000. The
rental of a staff quarters with a monthly amount of HK$80,000
has been ceased since 1 April 2008.

The rental expense for a motor vehicle was charged based on
mutually agreed terms at a fixed monthly amount of HK$60,000
during the year ended 31 March 2008. The transaction has been
ceased since 1 April 2008.

The sales to the related party were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered to the major customers

of the Group.

The purchase prices of liquors and packaging materials from the

related party were based on mutually agreed terms.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Other transactions with related parties:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

On 11 September 2008, the Group entered
into a novation agreement with Silver Base Int’l
Investment Co., Limited, a company beneficially-
owned by Mr. Liang and Mr. Liang Guofeng, and
a supplier of a motor vehicle (the “Vehicle”), an
independent third party, in respect of the purchase
of the Vehicle, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to novate all its interests and obligations
in the Vehicle to Silver Base Int’l Investment Co.,
Limited at a consideration of HK$8.3 million, which
was equivalent to the purchase cost of the Group.
As at 31 March 2008, the Group paid HK$1.7
million to the supplier as a deposit. Subsequent to
31 March 2008, the Group settled the remaining
consideration of HK$6.6 million. After the effective
date of the novation agreement on 11 September
2008, the total consideration of HK$8.3 million
paid by the Group has been recorded as an
amount due from Silver Base Int’l Investment Co.,
Limited, which was fully paid during the year.

Pursuant to a deed of indemnity dated 25
March 2009, Mr. Liang agreed to provide the
Group taxation indemnities for the benefit of
the companies now comprising the Group. The
provisions are conditional on the same conditions
stated in the paragraph headed “conditions of
the Hong Kong Public offering” in the section
headed “Structure of the Global Offering” in the
Prospectus becoming unconditional on or before
31 December 2009, or such other date as the
parties to this deed may agree failing which this
deed shall become null and void and cease to
have any effect whatsoever.

The personal guarantee provided by Mr. Liang in
relation to the Group's general banking facilities
(note 24(a)) was released upon the Listing.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i) Details of the Group’s amount due from its
controlling shareholder as at 31 March 2008 were

included in note 27 to the financial statements.

(i) Details of the Group’s rental and utility deposits
to Silver Base (Holdings) Limited as at the balance
sheet date are disclosed in note 20 to the financial

statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

2009 2008
HK$'000 F#& 7t HK$'000 T 7T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

e RBREDHZE 31,229 28,471
Retirement benefit contributions R {R4E F K 132 126
Total compensation paid to key management personnel

XNEEEEABRMRAE 31,361 28,597

EEMemE - SFBEARYS
RIS

5B (a)(i) M (a) (i) B P 2 BV BEBSE 77 32 5 T
Ak ET AR RIE14AT BT R E BV FFAB B2

25 -

REEEERBARAR/-ZZTE

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included

in note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a)(i) and

(a)(ii) also constitute continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group A& E
2009 2008
HK$'000 F#& T HK$'000 T8 7T

Loans and receivables & & EUFRIE :

Trade receivables JEIE 55 1A 25,950 18,005

Due from a controlling shareholder & U473 i% % 3 308 = 12,719

Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and

other receivables

HABMHE - ReRAMERKENSRAE 0 18,504

Pledged deposits B HEF1FHK - 123,118

Cash and cash equivalents & RIR&EEY 85,844 351,509
145,184 524,255

Financial liabilities at amortised cost R H A AI RN SR EE :
Trade and bills payables JETE 5 IE KR & 1,854 43,942
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

STAEMENRIEREFEENSRAE 5,115 46,590
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t E 8817 R HE b EE 53,165 34,632
60,134 125,164

P mEEE B ERBER

AEENFESMITABENLRITE
SRR RBITHER - ZFERITAN
IZAERAKENEEERES - A
SEEREHMEMEERAE  WE
WESHIE  BNESHEANRERE B
VEEREEERGEL

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings, and cash and bank balances.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables
and trade and bills payables, which arise directly from its
operations.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and foreign
currency risk. The board of directors reviews and approves
policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below:

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt obligations with
floating interest rates. The effective interest rates and terms
of repayment of the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the

Group are set out in note 24 to these financial statements.

A reasonably possible change of 50 basis points in interest
rates would have no material impact on the Group's profit
or loss during the year and there would be no impact on the
Group's equity.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank borrowings and trade finance facilities.
The Group's financing activities are managed centrally by
maintaining an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents
to finance the Group's operations. The Group also ensures
the availability of bank credit facilities to address any short

term funding requirements.

The Group’s cash and bank balances are placed with

reputable financial institutions.

L F F 3|
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the balance sheet date, based on contractual undiscounted
payments, was as follows:

2009
3 to less than
Less than 12 months
3 months =@RAZE Total
=EAR T=EAR st

HK$'000 F#t  HK$'000 FExX  HK$'000 FHE T

Trade and bills payables fEf & 5 518 & E#H 1,056 798 1,854
Financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals 5t AE A B FRIB K EET BEH

THMAIE 5,115 - 5,115

Interest-bearing bank borrowings & B IR1TEE 53,165 - 53,165

59,336 798 60,134

2008
Less than
3 months Total
=@EAR #aEt

HK$'000 Tt HK$'000 /&7t

Trade and bills payables [Ef & 5 5 IH R EH#E 43,942 43,942
Financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals 5t A B A & FRIE K AT BB
ERARE 46,590 46,590
Interest-bearing bank borrowings & BiR{TEE 34,632 34,632
125,164 125,164
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from the risk of counterparties
defaulting on the terms of their agreements. The carrying
amounts of cash and bank balances, trade receivables and
other receivables represent the Group’s maximum exposure

to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group monitors the exposure to credit risk on an ongoing
basis, and credit evaluations are performed on customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result
that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
The credit risk on balances of cash and cash equivalents is
low as those balances are placed with reputable financial

institutions.

As at 31 March 2008 and 2009, there was no significant
concentration of credit risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currency. For
Hong Kong operations, all sales and purchases transactions
are settled in Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars.
Meanwhile, most of the sales and purchases transactions
in the PRC operations are settled in RMB. Accordingly,
the transactional currency exposures of the Group are not
significant. The Group has not entered into any hedging
transaction to reduce the Group's exposure to foreign

currency risk in this regard.

A reasonably possible change of 5% to 10% in the exchange
rate between Hong Kong dollar and RMB per annum would
have no material impact on the Group's profit or loss during
the year and there would be no material impact on the

Group’s equity.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value. The
Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes of the
Group's capital management policy for managing capital
during the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the total adjusted equity plus net debt.
Net debt is calculated as the sum of interest-bearing bank
borrowings, trade and bills payables and other payables
less cash and bank balances. Capital represents equity
attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The Group's
policy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a reasonable level.

The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2008 and 2009 were as
follows:

2009 2008
HK$'000 F3& 7t HK$'000 T 7T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings & BRI TIEE 53,165 34,632
Trade and bills payables Ef & 5 51 M E#E 1,854 43,942
Other payables H {t f&{<f 5% 1A 45,884 129,598
Less: Cash and cash equivalents J& : & RIS FED (85,844) (351,509
Net debt/(asset) &1 (BE) F5 15,059 (143,337)
Equity ##m 256,219 507,677
Equity and net debt #% & B &HE 271,278 364,340
Gearing ratio 1812 th % 5.6% N/A TNEH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR P ot

31 March 2009 —ZEZE /1 F=H=4+—H

35. ®EBRSBE

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

BER=ZEZNF-_A=+HE
BNEEARZR EFERER
RNR B & EIRIE TR A2
89,620,000/ 7L & A1k + # DAM
Yinji Investments# T R BLE &
$£896,200,000/% A BRZIERE BR
0o BEBEZRBERGTEITRE
BERRMHDEREERITROES
HEAZERFER -

RZZFEZENFNANE ' AAF]
BEBAAHARELREREEE
3.45/8 7T R F17300,000,000
R% 5 A 0. 178 7T 89 37 3 38 A% A
BEBE S BRERMDAE AT
ke

RZZEZNFNA=-_+H B8
HEERAGIREHEEE S
CR I # 7% & 48 ;2,200,000
X JTIE N E23,994,900% 7T © B
ENFEMEARTKE - ANQR#E
BREFAEREES (RY) &
2 EBAXAE o LN FE & A FE
21,794 900X L E R =ZZEZENF
ANAMBER -

R-ZEZAFRA+_H  RE
FEBARRDRIREGREFD
OFRIYI) =& 2 $520,000,000
7 JT # 0 113,600,000 Tt °
PG E AR TERK & - AR A
BEREFSAREFEE ORI M
2 EBARAE o 1 InFE R & A H FIE
93,600,000 TER ZFTZ NF
SNAZBBRE °

36. #EFHHREK

MBRRENR_ZTNFLA+LEE
EFSELRETE -

35. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

(i) Pursuant to a written resolution passed on 20 February
2009, the directors were authorised to issue and allot
a total of 896,200,000 shares credited as fully paid to
Yinji Investments by way of capitalisation of the sum
of HK$89,620,000 standing to the credit of the share
premium account of the Company. The shares to be
issued and allotted pursuant to this resolution shall
rank pari passu in all respects with the existing issued
shares.

(i)  On 8 April 2009, the Company issued 300,000,000 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each for cash pursuant to the
Company'’s initial public offering at a price of HK$3.45
per share to the public for listing of those shares on the
Stock Exchange.

(i) On 20 April 2009, Richmind International Limited
resolved to increase the registered capital of Silver
Base Trading (Shenzhen) from US$2,200,000 to
US$23,994,900. Upon the completion of the increase
in the registered capital, the Company continues to
hold an indirect equity interest of 100% in Silver Base
Trading (Shenzhen). The increase in the registered
capital of US$21,794,900 has been fully paid on 4 June
2009.

(iv) On 12 May 2009, Silver Base Wine & Spirit Limited
resolved to increase the registered capital of Silver
Base Spirit (Shenzhen) from HK$20,000,000 to
HK$113,600,000. Upon the completion of the increase
in the registered capital, the Company continues to hold
an indirect equity interest of 100% in Silver Base Spirit
(Shenzhen). The increase in the registered capital of
HK$93,600,000 has been fully paid on 3 June 2009.

36. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 17 July 2009.

REEBEZERERRA  ZZEZNFER
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